
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Guy Moody 08450 450 500 

 
 
 
 
 
 

23 February 2009 

 

To: Councillor SM Edwards 
  
 Members of the Housing Portfolio Holder's Meeting – Councillors Mrs JM Guest 

and Mrs EM Heazell 
Quorum:  
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of HOUSING PORTFOLIO HOLDER'S MEETING, 
which will be held in COUNCIL CHAMBER, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on 
TUESDAY, 3 MARCH 2009 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Yours faithfully 
GJ HARLOCK 
Chief Executive 
 
Requests for a large print agenda must be received at least 48 hours before the meeting. 
 

 
AGENDA 

PAGES 
1. Apologies    
 
2. Minutes of previous meeting and matters arising   1 - 6 
 To agree the minutes of the meeting of 5 February as a correct record.    
   
 HOUSING FUTURES ITEMS   
 
3. Project Plan Update   7 - 26 
 
 HOUSING SERVICES ITEMS   
 
4. Finance Update   27 - 36 
 
5. Housing Service Plan update   37 - 88 
 
6. Affordable Homes PI Report   89 - 94 
 
7. Access over land in the ownership of South Cambridgeshire District 

Council at Orchard Close, COTTENHAM  
 95 - 98 

 
8. Land off Cranes Lane: KINGSTON   99 - 104 
 
9. Application to purchase garden land at 2 Wrights Grove, 

FULBOURN  
 105 - 106 

 
10. Consultation - Changes to the Revenue and Capital Rules for  107 - 110 

 South Cambridgeshire Hall 

Cambourne Business Park 

Cambourne 

Cambridge 

CB23 6EA 

t: 08450 450 500 

f: 01954 713149 

dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15 

minicom: 01480 376743 

www.scambs.gov.uk 



New Council Housing - Draft Response  
 
11. Forward Plan   111 - 114 
 The Portfolio Holder will maintain, for agreement at each meeting, a 

Forward Plan identifying all matters relevant to the Portfolio which it is 
believed are likely to be the subject of consideration and / or decision by 
the Portfolio Holder, Cabinet, Council, or any other constituent part of the 
Council.   The plan will be updated as necessary and published on the 
Council’s website following each meeting.  The Portfolio Holder will be 
responsible for the content and accuracy of the forward plan. 

 

   
12. Date of next meeting    
 To confirm the date of the next meeting provisionally scheduled for 

Thursday 2 April 2009.  Please note there is a meeting of the Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee scheduled for 5:30pm on this day. 
 
Please bring diaries. 

 

   



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
   
While the District Council endeavours to ensure that visitors come to no harm when visiting South 
Cambridgeshire Hall, those visitors also have a responsibility to make sure that they do not risk their own 
or others’ safety. 
 
Security 

Members of the public attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices must report to 
Reception, sign in, and at all times wear the Visitor badges issued.  Before leaving the building, such 
visitors must sign out and return their Visitor badges to Reception. 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 

In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Evacuate the building using the nearest escape 
route; from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside 
the door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park. 

• Do not use the lifts to exit the building.  If you are unable to negotiate stairs by yourself, the 

emergency staircase landings are provided with fire refuge areas, which afford protection for a 
minimum of 1.5 hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for assistance from the Council fire 
wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 

If someone feels unwell or needs first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to its agendas and 
minutes. We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us 
know, and we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  
There are disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Hearing loops and earphones are available 
from reception and can be used in all meeting rooms. 
 
Toilets 

Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business 

Unless specifically authorised by resolution, no audio and / or visual or photographic recording in any 
format is allowed at any meeting of the Council, the executive (Cabinet), or any committee, sub-committee 
or other sub-group of the Council or the executive. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 

No member of the public shall be allowed to bring into or display at any Council meeting any banner, 
placard, poster or other similar item. The Chairman may require any such item to be removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the person concerned.  If they 
continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If there is a general 
disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call for that part to be 
cleared. 
 
Smoking 

Since 1 July 2008, the Council has operated a new Smoke Free Policy. Visitors are not allowed to smoke 
at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 

Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  Visitors are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 
Mobile Phones 

Visitors are asked to make sure that their phones and other mobile devices are set on silent / vibrate 
mode during meetings or are switched off altogether.   
   



This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Housing Portfolio Holder's meeting held on 
Thursday, 5 February 2009 at 2.00 p.m. 

 
Portfolio Holder: SM Edwards 
 
Councillors in attendance: 
 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee monitor and 
Opposition spokesman 
 

 
Mrs EM Heazell 
 

 
Officers in attendance for all or part of the meeting: 
Steve Annetts 
Steve Hampson 
Mike Knight 
Gwynn Thomas 

Housing Assets and Investment Manager 
Executive Director 
Housing Strategy Manager 
Principal Accountant (Housing) 

 
59. APOLOGIES 
 
 Apologies were received from Cllr Mrs JM Guest, and Stephen Hills, Corporate Manager, 

Affordable Housing.  
  
60. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING AND MATTERS ARISING 
 
 The minutes of the meeting of 20 January 2009 were agreed as a correct record. 

 
Matters arising. 
 
It was confirmed that the Formal Offer Document was amended to reflect the needs of 
disabled tenants in respect of the proposed handyman service. 
 
The Portfolio Holder requested that a Housing Futures risk log be circulated at every 
meeting. 
 
Action: Denise Lewis 
 
Revenue and Capital Estimates 
 
 Dealt with as a separate item. 
 
See minute 67. 

  
61. HOUSING PLANS 
 
 Following a review of the HRA Business Plan, and the 5 Year Housing Maintenance Plan, 

minuted at items 62 and 63, and subject to minor wording amendments as identified, the 
Housing Portfolio Holder ENDORSED in principle the HRA Business Plan and its 
appendix the Five Year Housing Maintenance Plan.  

  
62. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT: BUSINESS PLAN 
 
 The Executive Director presented the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan for 

2009/10 to 2013/14.  

Agenda Item 2Page 1



Housing Portfolio Holder's meeting Thursday, 5 February 2009 

 
The Housing Portfolio Holder was advised that the plan was highly detailed and would be 
critical should the housing stock transfer not go ahead. 
 
The Principal Accountant, Housing, tabled a revised HRA Expenditure Projection to 
replace that shown on page 36 of the plan.  Since the publication of the Portfolio Holder 
meeting agenda the inflation rates used for the Medium Term Financial Strategy had been 
reviewed and, as a consequence, the business plan projections had been adjusted to take 
account of the reduction in the rates of pay and general inflation from 2.5% to 1% in 
2009/10 and from 2.5% to 1.5% in 2010/11.  The Portfolio Holder was advised that the 
revised projection deferred the requirement to make revenue savings until 2012/13 (a year 
later than the original projection of 2011/12), but overall there remained the need to save 
in excess of £500,000 from the Revenue Account and £4 million from the Capital Account.  
 
Questions and Comments 
 
Concerns were expressed that expenditure on tenant participation events could be 
reduced by more rigorous transport planning and cancelling catering arrangements.  The 
Portfolio Holder noted the comments, but observed that such benefits encouraged tenant 
attendance at participation events.  It was also observed that there were a multiplicity of 
tenant groups and that rationalisation of these groups could be considered as a cost 
saving opportunity. 
 
The Portfolio Holder confirmed that the development of private sheltered housing was a 
corporate objective to be developed through planning policy. 
 
The Portfolio Holder was advised that there had been no use of bed and breakfast 
facilities in the year 2007/08. 
 
The Portfolio Holder was advised that there were a number of properties with timber 
framed double-glazing due for window replacement. 
 
The Portfolio Holder was advised that there was no data available for rent collection and 
rent arrears recovery for the year 2008/09 at this stage. 
 
Wording amendments 
 
Agenda page 18:  Forth bullet point under key issues include, end the first sentence after 
Airey Properties.  Delete the wording ‘or the older, small sheltered units with shared 
facilities’. 
 
Agenda page 25:  Under Improvements amend the final sentence to read ‘before the end 
of its useful life’. 
 
Agenda page 26: Second line from bottom of page, replace the word ‘inputted’ with ‘input’. 
 
Agenda page 29:  Note against BV183b amend to read ’26.8 days against target of 24 but 
improved from 34.9 in previous year. 
 
Agenda page 33:  Second paragraph, final sentence, amend to read ‘The TMV is based 
on a revenue stream valuation rather than a capital valuation hence the difference in the 
figures produced. 

  
63. 5 YEAR HOUSING MAINTENANCE PLAN 
 

Page 2



Housing Portfolio Holder's meeting Thursday, 5 February 2009 

 The Executive Director presented the 5-Year Housing Maintenance Plan and advised the 
Portfolio Holder that the plan presumed that the housing stock would remain in the 
ownership of the Council. 
 
Comments and Questions 
 
The Portfolio Holder was advised that proposed spend changes for cyclical works such as 
internal paintwork and welfare gardens would be debated again in 2010/11. 
 
The Portfolio Holder was further advised that the thermoseal survey was a one-off and 
that there was no legal requirement to do so.  The survey would target electrically heated 
properties, with surveys of gas and oil heated properties being undertaken at a later date. 
 
The Portfolio Holder was advised that the costings in the plan for kitchen refurbishments 
were averages based on the actual costs of previous work, however the figures included 
an element of structural work, for instance removal of pantries, or replacement of flooring, 
which could inflate the figures.  The Portfolio Holder was further advised that the kitchen 
refurbishment contract had been put out to tender in 2007 and a five-year contract 
awarded which would be monitored by technical services.  An inflation rate of 2.5% had 
been factored in for future years. 
 
The Portfolio Holder was advised that a subscription to the web based ‘Housemark’ 
service had been purchased by the council and this would allow for costs of services and 
contracts to be benchmarked against national averages.  

  
64. CONSULTATION - CHANGES TO THE REVENUE AND CAPITAL RULES FOR NEW 

COUNCIL HOUSING 
 
 The Housing Strategy Manager presented a report to advise the Portfolio Holder of a 

government consultation document and to suggest an appropriate response.  
 
The Portfolio Holder was advised that the government was not changing the rules for 
existing council housing only new build properties.  The Portfolio Holder was further 
advised that the proposed changes would have no significant implications for the council 
as the Council for reasons identified within the report. 
 
Suggested replies to the questions in the consultation document: 
 
Question 1:  The Portfolio Holder was advised against using this question as an 
opportunity to request that the Secretary of State exempt the council’s existing equity 
share properties from the requirement to pool a share of the receipts.  The Housing 
Strategy Manager advised that a further consultation exercise on the wider HRA subsidy 
system was expected. 
 
Question 2:  No new properties should be excluded from the proposed HRA subsidy and 
pooling exemptions. 
 
Question 3: Section 80B exclusions should allow for local discretion to be used to identify 
the quickest, most flexible, processes. 
 
Question 4: The Secretary of State in considering whether to enter into an agreement to 
exclude properties should take no further factors into account over and above those in the 
consultation document.  
 
Question 5: Terms and conditions should be locally determined, and there should be as 

Page 3



Housing Portfolio Holder's meeting Thursday, 5 February 2009 

few as possible. 
 
Question 6: Properties excluded from the HRA subsidy system under section 80B should 
also be exempted from the requirement to pool capital receipts. 
 
Question 7: The proposed conditions should be expanded to include any legitimate 
capital expenditure. 
 
The Housing Portfolio Holder AGREED to instruct officers to respond to the consultation in 
support of the government’s proposals with detailed comments that recommend maximum 
flexibility and local discretion, and requested that the draft response be presented at the 
next Portfolio Holder meeting.  

  
65. FORWARD PLAN 
 
 The following Housing Services items were added to the Forward Plan for consideration at 

the March meeting: 
 

• Response to the consultation document ‘Changes to the Revenue and Capital 
Rules for New Council Housing’ 

• Allotment land off Cranes Lane, Kingston, transfer to the Parish Council. 
 
The following Housing Futures item was added to the Forward Plan as a standing item: 
 

• Housing Futures Risk Log. 
 
 
The Forward Plan was NOTED.  

  
66. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
 The date of the next meeting was moved forward to avoid difficulties for the Scrutiny and 

Overview monitors in attending the Scrutiny and Overview meeting. 
 
The date and time of the next meeting was confirmed as 10am, Tuesday 3 March.  Venue 
to be confirmed.   

  
67. ADJUSTED HRA SUMMARY 
 
 At the last Housing Portfolio meeting, held on 20th January 2009, the Portfolio Holder 

endorsed the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) estimates and recommended them for 
consideration by the Cabinet.  
 
The inflation rates to be used for the Medium Term Financial Strategy have recently be 
reviewed and, as a consequence, the rates for pay and general inflation to be used for the 
2009/10 estimates have been reduced from 2.5% to 1%. 
 
At the meeting the Portfolio Holder endorsed the Housing Revenue Account Summary 
adjusted to reflect a reduction in the anticipated 2009-10 inflation rates from 2.5% to1.0%, 
in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy, and a revised estimate of the DLO deficit 
for 2008-09, in accordance with the latest trading position estimate.   The reduction in the 
2009-10 estimate being £135,000 and the adjustment to the deficit being £17,530, 
bringing the revised estimate for the DLO to £35,000. 
 

Page 4



Housing Portfolio Holder's meeting Thursday, 5 February 2009 

The Portfolio Holder also endorsed the Alarm Charges for 2009-10, adjusted to reflect the 
change in anticipated inflation. 

  

  
The Meeting ended at 3.15 p.m. 

 

 

Page 5



This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 6



P
a
g
e
 1
 o
f 
4
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
ro
g
re
s
s
 R
e
p
o
rt
  
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

 K
e
y
 

  
T
a
s
k
 C

o
m
p
le
te
d
 

 
T
a
s
k
 U

n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

 
T
a
s
k
 B
e
h
in
d
 S
c
h
e
d
u
le
 

 P
ro
je
c
t 
P
la
n
 

 T
a
s
k
s
 

S
ta
rt
 

F
in
is
h
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 &
 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

L
ia
is
o
n
 w

it
h
 G

o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 D

is
p
o
s
a
ls
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
8
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
  

A
 D

is
p
o
s
a
ls
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
D
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 S
o
u
th
 C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
’s
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
. 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

A
p
p
o
in
tm

e
n
t 
o
f 
A
d
v
is
o
rs
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
8
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 

L
e
a
d
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
(S

a
v
ill
s
),
 C

o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
(I
P
B
),
 I
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

T
e
n
a
n
ts
 A
d
v
is
o
r 
(P

S
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
) 
a
n
d
 L
e
g
a
l 
A
d
v
is
e
r 
(T
ro
w
e
rs
 &
 H
a
m
lin
s
) 

h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
. 
M
o
n
th
ly
 H

o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
 T
e
a
m
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
. 
 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

N
e
w
 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
 S
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
8
  

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
 

T
h
e
 N

e
w
 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
 S
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 P
a
n
e
l 
re
a
c
h
e
d
 i
ts
 c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
 o
f 
a
 s
ta
n
d
-a
lo
n
e
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 a
t 
it
s
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 2
7
th
 J
u
n
e
, 
ta
k
in
g
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 v
ie
w
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 

g
ro
u
p
s
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
ta
ff
, 
te
n
a
n
ts
, 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
).
 A
 r
e
p
o
rt
 w
a
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

P
o
rt
fo
lio
 H

o
ld
e
r 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 s
ta
n
d
-a
lo
n
e
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
y
 F
u
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
n
 1
7
th
 J
u
ly
. 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

S
to
c
k
 C

o
n
d
it
io
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
8
  

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
  

T
h
e
 S
to
c
k
 C

o
n
d
it
io
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 w
a
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 i
n
 2
0
0
6
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 

re
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
ro
m
 i
t 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
re
p
a
re
 t
h
e
 D
is
p
o
s
a
ls
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

th
e
 b
a
s
e
 v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 a
 p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 S
to
c
k
 

C
o
n
d
it
io
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
t 
th
e
ir
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 i
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

Agenda Item 3Page 7



P
a
g
e
 2
 o
f 
4
 

T
a
s
k
s
 

S
ta
rt
 

F
in
is
h
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 &
 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

A
s
s
e
ts
 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
8
  

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
  

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
 l
a
n
d
 s
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
ti
tl
e
s
 a
re
 

re
g
is
te
re
d
. 
A
 T
a
s
k
 &
 F
in
is
h
 G

ro
u
p
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 P
ro
je
c
t 
T
e
a
m
 h
a
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 a
ll 

a
s
s
e
ts
 a
n
d
 l
ia
b
ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
g
re
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
ly
. 
T
h
e
s
e
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 

w
e
re
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 a
t 
th
e
ir
 O

c
to
b
e
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
8
  

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
  

O
n
e
 o
f 
th
e
 t
e
n
a
n
t 
B
o
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 h
a
s
 s
te
p
p
e
d
 d
o
w
n
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 f
o
r 
a
 

ti
m
e
 d
u
e
 t
o
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
re
a
s
o
n
s
. 
T
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 a
p
p
o
in
t 
a
 c
o
-o
p
te
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

te
n
a
n
t 
p
la
c
e
 a
n
d
 a
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
is
 p
e
rs
o
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
s
 

u
n
d
e
rw

a
y
. 

 F
o
u
r 
In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 d
e
ta
ils
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 

o
th
e
r 
B
o
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
. 
A
 f
if
th
 a
p
p
lic
a
n
t 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
w
h
o
 w
o
u
ld
 

b
ri
n
g
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
s
k
ill
s
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 t
a
k
in
g
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
o
f 
re
m
a
in
in
g
 g
a
p
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

B
o
a
rd
. 
S
u
it
a
b
le
 c
a
n
d
id
a
te
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
in
 t
h
e
 f
ie
ld
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 &
 s
o
c
ia
l 

c
a
re
. 

 T
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 h
a
s
 h
e
ld
 2
 A
w
a
y
 D

a
y
s
. 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 I
d
e
n
ti
ty
 a
n
d
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 
O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
8
  

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
  

T
h
e
 n
a
m
e
 a
n
d
 l
o
g
o
 f
o
r 
th
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 w
a
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 3

rd
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.
 

T
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 a
t 
it
s
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 1
5
th
 D

e
c
e
m
b
e
r.
 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
8
  

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

A
 C

o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 P
ro
to
c
o
l 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
n
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
/A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 a
n
d
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
. 
A
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

G
ro
u
p
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
s
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
. 
T
h
is
 G

ro
u
p
’s
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 g
e
n
e
ra
ti
n
g
 i
d
e
a
s
 f
o
r 
a
n
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
. 
 

U
p
d
a
te
s
 o
n
 C

o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
t 
e
a
c
h
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
. 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

Page 8



P
a
g
e
 3
 o
f 
4
 

T
a
s
k
s
 

S
ta
rt
 

F
in
is
h
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 &
 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

P
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 V
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 P
la
n
 

 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
8
  

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

A
 B
a
s
e
 V
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 f
o
r 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 D
is
p
o
s
a
ls
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
, 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
is
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
s
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 o
ff
e
r 
to
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 i
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 
 

T
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 h
a
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 P
la
n
 a
t 
it
s
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
. 

A
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 P
la
n
 w
h
ic
h
 i
n
fo
rm

s
 t
h
e
 O

ff
e
r 

D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 5

th
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 

T
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
 t
h
e
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 P
la
n
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
n
fi
rm

s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 o
ff
e
r 

c
a
n
 b
e
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
 o
n
 2
2
n
d
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
. 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

P
re
p
a
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 F
o
rm

a
l 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 D

o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
 

J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
8
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

T
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 O

ff
e
r 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
a
s
t 
1
2
 m

o
n
th
s
, 

in
v
o
lv
in
g
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
lo
c
a
l 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
. 

T
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 h
a
v
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 u
p
d
a
te
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 f
o
rm

a
t 
fo
r 

th
e
 O

ff
e
r 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
t 
th
e
ir
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 d
u
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
. 
 

A
 d
ra
ft
 O

ff
e
r 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 s
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 o
n
 2
3
rd
 D

e
c
e
m
b
e
r.
 

A
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 O

ff
e
r 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 h
e
ld
 f
o
r 
B
o
a
rd
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
 o
n
 8

th
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
, 
in
 p
re
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
s
ig
n
 o
ff
 a
t 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 M

e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 2
2
n
d
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
. 

T
h
e
 D

ra
ft
 O

ff
e
r 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
w
a
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
t 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
o
rt
fo
lio
 H
o
ld
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 2
0
th
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 F
u
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
n
 2
9
th
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
. 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

P
o
lic
y
 &
 T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

 

J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
8
  

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

T
h
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 h
a
s
 s
ig
n
e
d
 o
ff
 a
 m

a
jo
ri
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 
th
e
 O

ff
e
r 
D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t.
  

T
h
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
in
g
 a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
p
re
-b
a
llo
t 
–
 R
e
n
t 
S
e
tt
in
g
 –
 w
a
s
 

a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 o
n
 2
2
n
d
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

F
o
rm

a
l 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
  

 
A
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

re
la
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 F
o
rm

a
l 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
. 
T
h
is
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
e
 d
o
o
r-
k
n
o
c
k
in
g
 

e
x
e
rc
is
e
. 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
8
  

 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
8
  

A
 C

h
a
n
g
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 

m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 a
n
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
. 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

Page 9



P
a
g
e
 4
 o
f 
4
 

T
a
s
k
s
 

S
ta
rt
 

F
in
is
h
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 &
 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 

O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

R
e
ta
in
e
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
8
  

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
 

A
 T
a
s
k
 &
 F
in
is
h
 G

ro
u
p
 o
f 
th
e
 P
ro
je
c
t 
T
e
a
m
 h
a
s
 l
o
o
k
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

re
ta
in
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
s
u
c
h
 a
s
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 h
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
, 
a
n
d
 

p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
. 
 

 

a
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
&
 

V
A
T
 S
h
e
lt
e
r 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
8
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

A
 T
a
s
k
 &
 F
in
is
h
 G

ro
u
p
 o
f 
th
e
 P
ro
je
c
t 
T
e
a
m
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 

w
h
a
t 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
 H

R
A
 i
s
 p
a
y
in
g
 

fo
r 
th
o
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
C
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 G

e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

S
ta
ff
in
g
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9
 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
0
9
 

  

A
t 
th
e
ir
 M

a
rc
h
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
, 
th
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
ill
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 d
e
ta
ils
 

re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 T
U
P
E
 P
ro
to
c
o
l,
 S
ta
ff
 P
ro
m
is
e
, 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
th
e
 E
x
e
c
 T
e
a
m
 o
f 

th
e
 n
e
w
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 s
e
c
o
n
d
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
o
s
t-
b
a
llo
t 
p
h
a
s
e
. 

T
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
a
re
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
, 
U
n
io
n
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

a
d
v
is
o
rs
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
s
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
. 

 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
P
la
n
 a
n
d
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
8
 

O
n
-G

o
in
g
 

A
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 P
ro
je
c
t 
P
la
n
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
d
a
te
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 

re
fi
n
e
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
 t
a
s
k
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
 w
ill
 b
e
 u
p
d
a
te
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
. 

A
 P
ro
je
c
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
u
c
tu
re
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 P
ro
je
c
t.
 

a
 

U
n
d
e
rw

a
y
 

   

Page 10



 
Housing Futures Phase Two 
Risk Prioritisation Matrix 
February 2009 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1   7  

 
 
 
 
 

2     

 
 
 
 
 

3 16 8, 17 
4 

(2, 20) 
 

 
 
 
 
 

4   15  

 
 
 
 
 

5 6, 18 
 

(19, 1) 
5, 12, 13, 14 

(9, 10) 
 (11,3) 

 
 
 
 
 

6     

 
 

  
D 

 
C 

 
B 

 
A 

 
 
 

  
Impact 

Impact:  Likelihood:  

A 
B 
C 

D 

Extreme 
High 
Medium 
Low  

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 

Almost certain 
Likely 
Possible 
Unlikely 
Seldom 
Rare 

 
Notes:  
1.  Impact and Likelihood assessments, based on mapping used in February 2008. 
2.  Risk numbers 1, 2, 9, 10 and 20 have been closed. 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is left blank intentionally.



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 1
 o
f 
1
1
 

 P
R
O
J
E
C
T
 R
IS
K
 L
O
G
 F
O
R
 H
O
U
S
IN
G
 F
U
T
U
R
E
S
 P
H
A
S
E
 T
W
O
: 
U
p
 t
o
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
 B
a
ll
o
t 
  
  
  
 V
e
rs
io
n
 N
o
: 
7
 

D
a
te
 I
s
s
u
e
d
: 
F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 p
ro
je
c
t 
is
 w
e
ll 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
d
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 o
u
ts
e
t 
w
it
h
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 

in
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
  

a aaa
 

•
 
re
fe
r 
to
 A
d
v
e
rt
is
in
g
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 a
n
y
 m
a
te
ri
a
l 
th
a
t 
is
 

fa
ls
e
 a
n
d
/o
r 
m
is
le
a
d
in
g
 

 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 m
e
a
n
s
 o
f 
te
n
a
n
t 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 m
e
s
s
a
g
e
 i
s
 g
e
tt
in
g
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
s
p
o
n
d
 i
m
m
e
d
ia
te
ly
 t
o
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 o
r 
m
is
le
a
d
in
g
 m
a
te
ri
a
l 

ie
 i
n
 p
re
s
s
 o
r 
s
e
n
t 
to
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
  

a aaa
 

•
 
a
g
re
e
 a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
im
e
ly
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 o
r 
m
is
le
a
d
in
g
 

m
a
te
ri
a
l 

a aaa
 

•
 
le
a
rn
 f
ro
m
 o
th
e
rs
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 d
is
s
e
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

in
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 o
r 
m
is
le
a
d
in
g
 m
a
te
ri
a
l 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
/e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
a
n
d
 f
a
c
tu
a
l 
m
e
s
s
a
g
e
s
 a
t 
a
ll 
ti
m
e
s
 

a aaa
 

0
7
 
 

In
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

d
is
s
e
m
in
a
te
d
 t
o
 

te
n
a
n
ts
 

B
1
 

�
 

H
F
M
T
 

•
 
re
g
u
la
r 
a
n
d
 a
d
 h
o
c
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 a
d
v
is
e
 o
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 i
n
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 o
r 
m
is
le
a
d
in
g
 m
a
te
ri
a
l 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
o
lv
e
 a
n
d
/o
r 
b
ri
e
f 
a
ll 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 i
n
 a
 n
e
w
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 

s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
  

a aaa
 

•
 
in
c
lu
d
e
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
n
 a
 n
e
w
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 p
a
n
e
l 

a aaa
 

•
 
s
e
t 
u
p
 s
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 w
it
h
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
o
rg
a
n
is
e
 m
e
m
b
e
r 
b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
/w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 w
it
h
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
g
u
la
r 
in
fo
/u
p
d
a
te
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 W
e
e
k
ly
 B
u
lle
ti
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 p
re
s
s
 c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 

a aaa
 

•
 
s
tr
o
n
g
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 f
ro
m
 L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 

a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
F
H
 a
n
d
 S
M
T
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 h
ig
h
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
ro
fi
le
  

a aaa
 

•
 
re
p
o
rt
s
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
a
n
d
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 a
t 
k
e
y
 s
ta
g
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

0
4
 
 

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

M
e
m
b
e
r 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
3
 

�
 

S
M
T
 

•
 
if
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 a
tt
e
n
d
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 o
f 
p
o
lit
ic
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
s
 

a aaa
 

Page 13



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 2
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
 

re
te
n
ti
o
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a aaa
 

S
e
p
t 
0
8
 

•
 
a
 c
o
re
 p
ro
je
c
t 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
e
a
m
 o
f 
6
 F
T
E
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 m
o
n
ie
s
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 

th
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
s
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 w
it
h
in
 

a
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
s
e
t 
a
s
id
e
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
ti
v
e
 c
o
s
ts
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

th
e
 p
ro
je
c
t.
  

a aaa
 

M
a
r 
0
8
 

  

•
 
th
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
to
 b
e
 t
h
e
 n
o
m
in
a
te
d
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
h
o
ld
e
r 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 w
it
h
in
 H
R
, 
le
g
a
l 
a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
s
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 a
n
y
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 a
n
d
 a
b
ili
ty
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 

p
ro
je
c
t 

a aaa
 

•
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
y
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
ts
/t
e
m
p
 s
ta
ff
 e
a
rl
y
 o
n
 i
n
 p
ro
je
c
t 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
re
g
u
la
r 

in
te
rv
a
ls
 

a aaa
 

 J
u
ly
 0
8
 

•
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
o
s
it
io
n
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

to
 b
e
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 w
it
h
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
F
H
 

a aaa
 

0
2
 
 

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
o
r 
in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
: 

  
  
  
 S
ta
ff
in
g
 

  
  
  
 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

  
  
  
 H
R
 

  
  
  
 L
e
g
a
l 

 

B
3
 

�
 

S
M
T
 

•
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 b
u
d
g
e
t 
p
o
s
it
io
n
 s
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

to
 b
e
 r
e
g
u
la
rl
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 w
it
h
 S
M
T
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
it
e
 a
ll 
te
n
a
n
ts
 t
o
 g
e
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 n
e
x
t 
p
h
a
s
e
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

‘m
e
n
u
 o
f 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
’ 
w
it
h
in
 n
e
w
 T
P
A
. 

a aaa
 

•
 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
ls
o
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 b
e
in
g
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
A
d
v
is
o
ry
 

G
ro
u
p
(s
) 
(T
A
G
) 
w
h
o
 w
ill
 h
e
lp
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 ‘
o
ff
e
r’
 

a aaa
 

•
 
te
n
a
n
t 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 f
o
r 
n
e
w
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 p
a
n
e
l 
to
 

b
e
 d
ra
w
n
 f
ro
m
 T
A
G
 –
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 b
e
 s
e
e
n
 t
o
 b
e
 o
p
e
n
, 

in
c
lu
s
iv
e
, 
d
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
, 
a
n
d
 f
a
ir
 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
n
 o
p
e
n
. 
In
c
lu
s
iv
e
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 

fo
r 
s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
te
n
a
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
a
 s
h
a
d
o
w
 b
o
a
rd
 t
h
a
t 

c
o
m
p
lie
s
 w
it
h
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 C
o
rp
o
ra
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

A
u
g
 0
8
 

2
0
 
 

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
, 

o
p
e
n
 a
n
d
 t
ra
n
s
p
a
re
n
t 

te
n
a
n
t 
p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

B
3
 

�
 

A
G
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 o
n
 p
a
n
e
l 
c
a
n
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
t 
in
te
re
s
ts
 o
f 
k
e
y
 

g
ro
u
p
s
 o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 e
g
 s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
, 
le
a
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
, 
g
e
n
e
ra
l 

n
e
e
d
s
 

a aaa
 

Page 14



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 3
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 T
P
A
 a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 t
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

F
u
tu
re
s
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
p
p
o
in
t 
a
n
 I
T
A
 a
n
d
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
te
a
m
 

in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 r
e
a
c
h
 m
o
re
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
o
lv
e
 T
P
G
 a
n
d
 l
in
k
e
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 T
A
G
 i
n
 

id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 w
a
y
s
 o
f 
e
n
g
a
g
in
g
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 m
o
re
 

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 f
o
r 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 ‘
o
ff
e
r’
 t
o
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

•
 
b
u
ild
 o
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 i
n
 p
h
a
s
e
 o
n
e
 o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

F
u
tu
re
s
  

a aaa
 

•
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
a
ll 
te
n
a
n
ts
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

th
a
t 
a
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
a
d
d
re
s
s
e
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 m
a
rk
e
t 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 t
e
c
h
n
iq
u
e
s
 a
s
 a
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
a
n
d
 f
o
r 
re
a
c
h
in
g
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
n
a
ly
s
e
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 t
e
n
a
n
t 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
 o
n
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
a
n
t 

to
 g
e
t 
m
o
re
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 w
h
ic
h
 c
a
n
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
t 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
m
e
th
o
d
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 T
e
n
a
n
t 
P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
s
o
 t
h
a
t 
te
n
a
n
ts
 c
a
n
 s
e
e
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 c
a
n
 i
n
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
/g
e
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
o
lv
e
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ti
v
e
 n
e
w
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 

a aaa
 

•
 
s
e
t 
u
p
 a
 s
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 w
it
h
 t
e
n
a
n
t 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 T
P
G
 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 
re
s
id
e
n
ts
 g
ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 g
e
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 

 

•
 
im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
 

re
te
n
ti
o
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a aaa
 

A
u
g
/S
e
p
t 

0
3
 
 

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

te
n
a
n
t 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
/o
r 
p
o
o
r 

re
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

A
5
 

 

�
 

(f
ro
m
 A
4
) 

L
IT
 

•
 
in
v
o
lv
e
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 o
ff
e
r 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 I
T
A
 s
u
rv
e
y
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
p
h
a
s
e
 o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 

to
 h
e
lp
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 l
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
‘d
o
o
r 
k
n
o
c
k
in
g
’ 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
a
rl
y
 o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 f
in
d
 o
u
t 
m
o
re
 a
b
o
u
t 
w
h
a
t 
te
n
a
n
ts
 w
a
n
t 

S
ta
rt
s
 2
1
/0
7
 

1
1
 
 

T
h
e
 ‘
o
ff
e
r’
 d
o
e
s
 n
o
t 

m
e
e
t 
th
e
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 (
a
n
d
 

le
a
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
) 
 

A
5
 

�
 

L
IT
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 a
n
d
 l
e
a
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
re
 f
u
lly
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 t
h
e
 o
ff
e
r 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

a aaa
 

T
A
G
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
  

Page 15



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 4
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
th
e
 o
ff
e
r 
s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 s
o
m
e
th
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
e
g
 s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
n
e
e
d
s
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

le
a
s
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
fo
rm
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
g
e
 t
o
 s
e
e
k
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
ro
m
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 

o
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 o
ff
e
r 

b
e
fo
re
 p
ro
c
e
e
d
in
g
 t
o
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
g
e
 

a aaa
 

•
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
re
a
s
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 m
o
s
t 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
 f
ro
m
 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
/c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
ry
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
s
e
 m
o
re
 f
u
lly
 

a aaa
 

V
is
it
s
 J
u
ly
/A
u
g
 

•
 
in
v
e
s
t 
 m
o
re
 f
ro
n
t 
lin
e
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
ti
m
e
 i
n
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 

to
 a
n
s
w
e
r 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 m
o
re
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 b
o
th
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
a
n
d
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 

a aaa
 

V
is
it
s
 J
u
ly
/A
u
g
 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 m
e
th
o
d
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
te
n
a
n
ts
 a
re
 

b
e
in
g
 r
e
a
c
h
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
re
 e
n
g
a
g
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

V
is
it
s
 J
u
ly
/A
u
g
 

•
 
a
p
p
o
in
t 
s
u
it
a
b
ly
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 L
e
a
d
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
to
 a
d
v
is
e
 o
n
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
re
a
s
 t
h
a
t 
n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

fo
c
u
s
s
e
d
 o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
p
p
o
in
t 
s
u
it
a
b
ly
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

a
d
v
is
o
rs
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
re
p
a
re
 a
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 r
o
b
u
s
t 
a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 

th
e
 n
e
w
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
n
y
 ‘
o
ff
e
r’
 t
o
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 

a
re
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
le
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 

a aaa
 

•
 
u
s
e
 s
e
n
s
it
iv
it
y
 t
e
s
ti
n
g
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
n
y
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 a
s
s
u
m
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
in
p
u
ts
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 s
to
c
k
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 d
a
ta
 

a aaa
 

1
5
 

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
re
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 n
e
w
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 

B
4
 

 

�
 

(f
ro
m
 B
5
) 

S
H
i 

•
 
in
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 o
n
 w
a
rr
a
n
ti
e
s
 a
t 
a
n
 e
a
rl
y
 s
ta
g
e
 

 

•
 
re
g
u
la
r 
p
re
s
s
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
/s
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 m
e
d
ia
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
, 
m
o
n
it
o
r 
a
n
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
 a
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
g
re
e
 a
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 
to
 e
n
a
b
le
 t
im
e
ly
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 m
e
d
ia
 

a aaa
 

0
8
 
 

In
a
c
c
u
ra
te
 o
r 

u
n
b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 m
e
d
ia
 

c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 

C
3
 

�
 

G
H
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
/s
k
ill
s
/c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 

m
e
d
ia
 c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 

a aaa
 

Page 16



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 5
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
k
e
y
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 h
ig
h
 p
ro
fi
le
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
m
e
d
ia
 a
n
d
 

b
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 h
e
lp
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

g
e
n
e
ra
lly
 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
lle
c
ti
v
e
 o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
p
ro
je
c
t 
b
y
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
  

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 p
ro
je
c
t 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 r
e
g
u
la
r 

a
rt
ic
le
s
/f
e
a
tu
re
s
 i
n
 S
o
u
th
 C
a
m
b
s
 N
e
w
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 m
o
re
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
  

 

•
 
in
c
re
a
s
e
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
fe
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 

v
e
rs
u
s
 t
ra
d
it
io
n
a
l 
m
o
d
e
ls
 a
n
d
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 a
b
le
 t
o
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
o
lv
e
 a
s
 m
a
n
y
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 

s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 m
o
re
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
, 
v
is
it
s
 t
o
 

a
n
d
/o
r 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 b
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 e
g
 a
t 
te
n
a
n
t 

o
p
e
n
 d
a
y
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
la
ri
fy
 t
h
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 
n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 

a aaa
 

•
 
d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 w
h
a
t 
a
 n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 c
o
u
ld
 l
o
o
k
 

lik
e
, 
w
h
o
 w
o
u
ld
 r
u
n
 i
t 
a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
it
 a
n
d
 w
h
y
 i
t 
c
o
u
ld
 d
o
 

m
o
re
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
c
a
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
 

a aaa
 

S
e
p
t 
0
8
 

•
 
ra
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
th
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 b
a
c
k
g
ro
u
n
d
s
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
rt
is
e
  

a aaa
 

F
e
b
 0
9
 

1
7
 

N
e
g
a
ti
v
e
 
p
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 

o
f 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 
b
y
 
k
e
y
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

 

C
3
 

�
 

L
IT
/D
L
 

•
 
S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
v
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

ra
is
e
 t
h
e
ir
 p
ro
fi
le
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 m
o
re
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 S
C
V
H
  

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
e
s
t 
ti
m
e
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 g
a
in
 t
h
e
ir
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 

is
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 o
f 
a
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
fr
o
m
 a
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
p
e
rs
p
e
c
ti
v
e
 i
n
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
fu
tu
re
 

ro
le
/c
a
re
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
d
d
re
s
s
 f
u
tu
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 e
a
rl
y
 o
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

in
v
o
lv
in
g
/c
o
n
s
u
lt
in
g
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 u
n
io
n
s
 

a aaa
 

0
5
 
 

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 s
ta
ff
 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
/o
r 

lo
w
 s
ta
ff
 m
o
ra
le
 

B
5
 

�
 

H
F
P
T
 

•
 
d
is
c
u
s
s
 w
it
h
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 t
h
e
ir
 c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 a
n
d
 a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

ta
k
e
 t
h
e
s
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
in
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 

a aaa
 

Page 17



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 6
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
 o
u
ts
id
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 w
h
o
s
e
 

ro
le
s
 m
a
y
 b
e
 ‘
a
t 
ri
s
k
’ 
 (
th
e
re
 m
a
y
 b
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
in
 a
 

n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 o
v
e
r 
a
n
d
 a
b
o
v
e
 r
o
le
s
 f
o
r 

tr
a
n
s
fe
rr
in
g
 s
ta
ff
) 

a aaa
 

•
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 t
h
o
s
e
 s
ta
ff
/r
o
le
s
 w
h
e
re
 T
U
P
E
 w
ill
 a
p
p
ly
 a
s
a
p
 

a aaa
 

J
u
ly
 0
8
 

•
 
in
v
o
lv
e
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
s
p
e
c
ti
v
e
 n
e
w
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 e
g
 t
e
rm
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

p
e
n
s
io
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
g
u
la
r 
s
ta
ff
 b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
r 
to
 a
tt
e
n
d
 t
e
a
m
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 u
p
o
n
 r
e
q
u
e
s
t 

a aaa
 

•
 
F
A
Q
s
 a
n
d
 b
u
lle
ti
n
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
c
o
n
tr
a
c
ti
n
g
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

th
e
ir
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
m
e
s
s
a
g
e
 t
o
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
 e
g
 

C
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 ‘
s
ta
ff
 p
le
d
g
e
’ 
in
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 

m
a
k
e
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
ts
 a
ro
u
n
d
 t
e
rm
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 

S
C
V
H
 

a aaa
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

•
 
1
2
1
’s
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
ra
is
a
ls
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
to
c
o
l 
a
s
 a
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
te
re
s
ts
 

a aaa
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

•
 
a
tt
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 d
e
ta
il 
in
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 l
e
g
a
l 
a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 u
p
 t
o
 a
n
d
 a
ft
e
r 
th
e
 b
a
llo
t 
 

a aaa
 

•
 
s
h
a
re
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 m
a
te
ri
a
l 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
L
G
 a
n
d
 H
C
 (
a
s
 

n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
) 

a aaa
 

•
 
le
a
rn
 f
ro
m
 o
th
e
r 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 t
h
a
t 
h
a
v
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 l
o
c
a
lit
y
/r
e
g
io
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
n
o
te
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 f
ro
m
 o
th
e
r 
le
g
a
l 
c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

le
a
rn
 a
n
y
 l
e
s
s
o
n
s
 

a aaa
 

1
2
 
 

L
e
g
a
l 
c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 

B
5
 

�
 

D
L
 

•
 
ro
b
u
s
t 
d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 

a aaa
 

Page 18



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 7
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 e
a
rl
y
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 C
o
rp
o
ra
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

o
rd
e
r 
to
 b
e
 a
w
a
re
 o
f 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
/c
ri
te
ri
a
 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
llo
w
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 t
im
e
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 a
n
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
in
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
fo
llo
w
 a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

a aaa
 

•
 
a
p
p
o
in
t 
s
u
it
a
b
ly
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 L
e
a
d
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
to
 a
d
v
is
e
 o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
  

a aaa
 

•
 
a
p
p
o
in
t 
s
u
it
a
b
ly
 q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 l
e
g
a
l 
a
n
d
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 a
d
v
is
o
rs
 

a aaa
 

•
 
s
e
e
k
 a
d
v
ic
e
 f
ro
m
 L
e
a
d
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
a
n
d
 L
e
g
a
l 
A
d
v
is
o
r 
o
n
 

lo
c
a
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

1
3
 

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 C
o
rp
o
ra
ti
o
n
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
a
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 n
e
w
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 

B
5
 

�
 

L
IT
 

•
 
s
e
e
k
 o
u
t 
a
n
d
 l
e
a
rn
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
s
 o
f 
o
th
e
rs
 

a aaa
 

•
 
k
e
e
p
 a
b
re
a
s
t 
o
f 
la
te
s
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 g
o
v
t 
p
o
lic
y
 

a aaa
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 

•
 
lia
is
e
 w
it
h
 G
O
-e
a
s
t 
o
n
 a
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
b
a
s
is
 

 

a aaa
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 h
e
ld
 o
n
 

3
rd
 J
u
ly
 

•
 
lia
is
e
 w
it
h
 C
L
G
 (
H
C
A
) 
o
n
 a
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
b
a
s
is
 

a aaa
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 h
e
ld
 

F
e
b
 0
9
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 a
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
w
ill
 d
e
liv
e
r 
in
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 l
ik
e
ly
 

p
o
lic
y
/l
e
g
is
la
ti
v
e
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 o
p
ti
o
n
 w
ill
 l
in
k
 t
o
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 

to
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
k
e
y
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
g
o
v
t 
a
g
e
n
d
a
s
 e
g
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
, 
L
A
A
s
 

a aaa
 

P
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

L
S
P
 F
e
b
 0
9
 

1
4
 

C
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 

G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
: 

-
 
d
ir
e
c
t 
in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 

in
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
/o
r 

-
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

H
R
A
 s
u
b
s
id
y
 

s
y
s
te
m
 

-
 
n
e
w
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 f
o
r 

in
c
lu
s
io
n
 o
n
 

h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 

B
5
 

�
 

D
L
 

•
 
m
o
d
e
l 
a
n
y
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 f
in
a
n
c
e
 s
y
s
te
m
 t
o
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
re
te
n
ti
o
n
 s
c
e
n
a
ri
o
 

a aaa
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

P
a
p
e
r 
F
e
b
 0
9
 

•
 
a
d
d
re
s
s
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 c
ri
te
ri
a
, 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 p
re
fe
rr
e
d
 m
o
d
e
l 

e
a
rl
y
 o
n
 w
it
h
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
te
n
a
n
ts
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
 

a aaa
 

0
9
 
 

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 g
a
in
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 k
e
y
 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

m
o
d
e
l 
o
f 
n
e
w
 

B
5
 

�
 

D
L
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 C
o
rp
o
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 C
L
G
/G
O
-E
a
s
t 

a
re
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 

a aaa
 

Page 19



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 8
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
re
c
e
n
t 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
lo
c
a
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
n
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 l
ik
e
ly
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
in
te
re
s
t 

a aaa
 

•
 
fo
llo
w
 C
L
G
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 c
h
o
o
s
in
g
 a
 n
e
w
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
o
lv
e
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
, 
s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 M
e
m
b
e
rs
 i
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
a
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 s
it
e
 v
is
it
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
 d
a
y
s
 i
n
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
in
v
it
e
 v
ie
w
s
/c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 f
ro
m
 I
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
T
e
n
a
n
t 
A
d
v
is
o
r 

o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
s
e
e
k
 a
d
v
ic
e
 f
ro
m
 L
e
a
d
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t 
o
n
 h
o
w
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 h
a
s
 

w
o
rk
e
d
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 

a aaa
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 c
a
p
tu
re
s
 t
h
e
 o
p
ti
m
u
m
 f
u
tu
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 f
o
r 
te
n
a
n
ts
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
a
rl
y
 a
n
d
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
/l
ia
is
o
n
 w
it
h
 G
O
-E
a
s
t 
a
n
d
 

C
L
G
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
  

a aaa
 

•
 
e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 k
e
y
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
s
e
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
fe
r 
to
 a
n
d
 f
o
llo
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 –
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 T
ra
n
s
fe
r 

M
a
n
u
a
l 
2
0
0
5
 

a aaa
 

•
 
fo
c
u
s
 o
n
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 a
s
p
e
c
ts
 a
t 
e
a
rl
ie
s
t 
s
ta
g
e
  

a aaa
 

•
 
if
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
, 
re
v
is
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
ti
m
e
lin
e
s
 t
o
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
te
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

•
 
b
u
ild
 i
n
 s
o
m
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
e
n
c
y
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 
H
R
A
 r
e
v
e
n
u
e
 a
n
d
 

c
a
p
it
a
l 
e
s
ti
m
a
te
s
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
 y
e
a
rs
 f
ro
m
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 o
n
w
a
rd
s
  

a aaa
 

1
0
 
 

F
a
ilu
re
 t
o
 s
e
c
u
re
 a
 

p
la
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
8
 

C
L
G
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

B
5
 

�
 

D
L
 

•
 
e
x
p
lo
re
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g
a
te
w
a
y
 m
o
d
e
ls
 t
o
 s
e
e
 i
f 

p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
p
p
lie
d
 t
o
 a
n
y
 n
e
w
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 c
re
a
te
d
 f
o
r 
S
o
u
th
 C
a
m
b
s
 

a aaa
 

S
e
p
t 
0
8
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 c
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 c
o
n
fl
ic
t 
w
it
h
 

th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
 

a aaa
 

•
 
M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 t
e
a
m
s
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 f
o
r 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
e
a
m
s
 w
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
 t
o
 

th
e
 w
o
rk
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

a aaa
 

 

1
6
 

U
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 s
u
s
ta
in
 o
r 

im
p
ro
v
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
in
 

a
ff
e
c
te
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

a
re
a
s
 

D
3
 

�
 

H
F
P
T
 

•
 
ta
rg
e
ts
 f
o
r 
P
Is
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
a
lis
ti
c
 g
iv
e
n
 d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 

F
u
tu
re
s
 p
ro
je
c
t 

a aaa
 

Page 20



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 9
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
im
p
a
c
t 
o
f 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 s
u
s
ta
in
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
o
v
e
rt
im
e
 a
n
d
/o
r 
b
a
c
k
fi
lli
n
g
 

p
o
s
ts
 d
u
ri
n
g
 p
e
a
k
 p
e
ri
o
d
s
 e
g
 f
o
rm
a
l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 s
ta
g
e
 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 r
e
c
o
g
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
c
o
m
p
e
ti
n
g
 d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 o
n
 s
ta
ff
 

w
it
h
in
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
a
ff
e
c
te
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

F
u
tu
re
s
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
m
o
te
 p
ro
je
c
t 
a
s
 a
n
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
  

 
a aaa
 

•
 
im
p
ro
v
e
 s
ta
ff
 m
o
ra
le
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 v
a
lu
in
g
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
g
u
la
r 
a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
 s
ta
ff
 

 
a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 b
o
th
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
lly
 a
n
d
 a
s
 

te
a
m
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
a
s
 m
a
n
y
 p
e
o
p
le
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 

g
e
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 i
d
e
a
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 a
ll 
s
ta
ff
 

 
a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 o
n
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
u
g
g
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 

 
a aaa
 

1
9
 

L
o
s
s
 o
f 
k
e
y
 s
ta
ff
 

a
n
d
/o
r 
in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 s
ta
ff
 

tu
rn
o
v
e
r 

C
5
 

 

�
 

(f
ro
m
 C
4
) 

H
S
M
T
 

•
 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 

 
a aaa
 

•
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 s
e
n
io
r 
n
o
n
-T
U
P
E
 o
ff
ic
e
r 
to
 l
e
a
d
 p
ro
je
c
t 
fr
o
m
 o
u
ts
e
t 

 
a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
v
id
e
 a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 r
o
le
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 

p
ro
je
c
t 
te
a
m
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
s
e
n
io
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
o
s
t-
h
o
ld
e
r 

a
n
d
 c
le
a
r 
re
p
o
rt
in
g
 l
in
e
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
u
re
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
t 
a
 v
e
ry
 e
a
rl
y
 

s
ta
g
e
 

a aaa
 

0
1
 
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

in
a
d
e
q
u
a
te
 

C
5
 

�
 

S
M
T
 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 i
t 
is
 ‘
fi
t 
fo
r 

p
u
rp
o
s
e
’ 

a aaa
 

Page 21



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 1
0
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
v
ie
w
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 T
O
R
 f
o
r 
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 p
ro
je
c
t 
te
a
m
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
g
ro
u
p
s
 w
it
h
in
 n
e
w
 p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

a aaa
 

•
 
re
g
u
la
r 
b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 L
S
P
 a
n
d
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
lly
 a
ls
o
 t
h
e
 L
A
A
 

B
o
a
rd
 o
n
 t
h
e
 h
o
u
s
in
g
  
tr
a
n
s
fe
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
 

a aaa
 

•
 
im
p
ro
v
e
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
 r
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 

o
p
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
d
u
c
e
 b
u
lle
ti
n
s
/F
A
Q
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 b
e
 d
is
s
e
m
in
a
te
d
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
 

w
it
h
in
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
b
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 f
o
r 
s
ta
ff
 w
it
h
in
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 (
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 

th
o
s
e
 i
n
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
w
it
h
 t
e
n
a
n
ts
) 
e
g
 C
o
n
ta
c
t 
C
e
n
tr
e
, 
C
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
 w
it
h
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
ils
 a
s
 t
o
 h
o
w
 t
h
e
y
 w
is
h
 t
o
 g
e
t 

in
v
o
lv
e
d
/f
in
d
 o
u
t 
m
o
re
  

a aaa
 

•
 
h
o
ld
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
fo
ru
m
s
 t
o
 d
is
c
u
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 w
it
h
 w
id
e
r 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 

 

0
6
 
 

L
a
c
k
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 

e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
/o
r 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

tr
a
n
s
fe
r 
p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 

D
5
 

�
 

H
F
M
T
 

•
 
in
v
it
e
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 w
it
h
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
s
k
ill
s
 t
o
 c
o
m
e
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 

a aaa
 

J
u
ly
 0
8
 

•
 
p
ro
m
o
te
 ‘
o
n
e
 t
e
a
m
’ 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

 
a aaa
 

•
 
a
im
s
 a
n
d
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 t
h
o
s
e
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 b
e
 s
h
a
re
d
 

 
a aaa
 

•
 
n
o
 s
e
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 n
e
w
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 r
o
le
s
 p
re
 b
a
llo
t 

 
a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 t
o
 b
e
 f
le
x
ib
le
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 a
 

s
e
p
a
ra
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 e
a
s
ily
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
ta
g
e
 

in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 

a aaa
 

•
 
p
ro
je
c
t 
te
a
m
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
w
o
rk
 s
tr
e
a
m
s
 w
it
h
in
 

th
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 i
n
te
re
s
ts
 o
f 
b
o
th
 t
ra
n
s
fe
rr
in
g
 a
n
d
 n
o
n
-

tr
a
n
s
fe
rr
in
g
 s
ta
ff
 a
re
 f
u
lly
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

a aaa
 

1
8
 

C
o
n
fl
ic
ts
 o
f 
in
te
re
s
t 

D
5
 

�
 

H
F
M
T
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 i
n
te
re
s
ts
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
h
o
s
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 a
re
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
  

a aaa
 

Page 22



H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 P
h
a
s
e
 2
 R
is
k
 l
o
g
 v
e
rs
io
n
 6
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

P
a
g
e
 1
1
 o
f 
1
1
 

 R
is
k
 

N
o
 

R
is
k
 D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

Im
p
a
c
t/
 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

O
w
n
e
r 

C
o
u
n
te
rm
e
a
s
u
re
s
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

a aaa
 

•
 
e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 n
e
w
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 i
s
 a
b
le
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
o
n
 a
n
y
 

p
ro
m
is
e
s
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 o
ff
e
r 

a aaa
 

•
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
e
a
rl
y
 t
h
e
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
a
n
y
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 

th
a
t 
w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 e
x
is
t 
b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 n
e
w
 

la
n
d
lo
rd
 p
o
s
t 
tr
a
n
s
fe
r 

a aaa
 

M
a
r 
0
9
 

•
 
c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
d
 a
g
re
e
 a
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 
to
 a
v
o
id
 o
r 
h
e
lp
 m
in
im
is
e
 

c
o
n
fl
ic
ts
 o
f 
in
te
re
s
t 

a aaa
 

J
u
ly
 0
8
 

 N
o
te
s
: 
  

1
. 
R
is
k
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 “
g
re
y
e
d
 o
u
t”
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 c
lo
s
e
d
; 
a
ll 
o
th
e
r 
ri
s
k
s
 r
e
m
a
in
 o
p
e
n
. 
 

2
. 
T
h
e
 d
o
tt
e
d
 l
in
e
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 r
is
k
 t
o
le
ra
n
c
e
 l
in
e
. 
  

 
Im
p
a
c
t 

L
ik
e
lih
o
o
d
 

D
ir
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
T
ra
v
e
l 

A
  
E
x
tr
e
m
e
 

B
  
H
ig
h
 

C
  
M
e
d
iu
m
 

D
  
L
o
w
 

1
  
A
lm
o
s
t 
c
e
rt
a
in
 

2
  
L
ik
e
ly
 

3
  
P
o
s
s
ib
le
 

4
  
U
n
lik
e
ly
 

5
  
S
e
ld
o
m
 

6
  
R
a
re
 

�
 
�
 
�
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 r
e
d
u
c
e
d
 f
ro
m
 l
a
s
t 
re
v
ie
w
 (
b
ra
c
k
e
t 
in
d
ic
a
te
s
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
) 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 e
q
u
a
l 
to
 l
a
s
t 
re
v
ie
w
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 f
ro
m
 l
a
s
t 
re
v
ie
w
 (
b
ra
c
k
e
t 
in
d
ic
a
te
s
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
) 

 

Page 23



Page 24

This page is left blank intentionally.



H
O
U
S
IN
G
 F
U
T
U
R
E
S
 B
U
D
G
E
T
 P
O
S
IT
IO
N
 S
T
A
T
E
M
E
N
T
 A
S
 A
T
 2
0
 F
E
B
R
U
A
R
Y
 2
0
0
9

O
ri
g
in
a
l 

E
s
ti
m
a
te
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 

a
s
 a
t 
2
7
 J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
8

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 

a
s
 a
t 
1
9
 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
8

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 

a
s
 a
t 
2
0
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 

a
s
 a
t 
1
2
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 a
s
 

a
t 
2
0
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
0
9

£
£

£
£

£
£

E
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 r
e
la
te
d
 e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
:

S
a
la
ri
e
s

1
4
6
,5
0
0

A
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
N
e
w
 S
ta
ff
 

A
g
e
n
c
y
 S
ta
ff

T
ra
in
in
g

O
th
e
r

O
v
e
rt
im
e
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts

3
5
,0
0
0

1
1
,7
5
1

1
2
,0
9
2

1
2
,1
4
8

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 R
e
la
te
d
 E
x
p
e
n
s
e
s

C
a
r 
A
llo
w
a
n
c
e
s

3
,5
0
0

H
ir
e
 o
f 
m
in
i-
b
u
s
/c
o
a
c
h
e
s

2
,5
0
0

2
,0
6
0

2
,6
9
3

3
,0
5
8

3
,2
0
8

3
,2
0
8

T
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
s

2
5
0

S
u
p
p
li
e
s
 a
n
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
:

  
  
  
IT
A

7
5
,0
0
0

4
,7
4
0

1
1
,3
3
4

2
6
,3
1
4

3
2
,1
9
9

3
4
,2
8
5

  
  
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s

3
2
,0
0
0

5
,7
6
0

8
,6
4
0

1
7
,2
8
0

2
5
,9
2
0

2
8
,8
0
0

  
  
 M
a
rk
e
t 
re
s
e
a
rc
h

1
5
,0
0
0

4
,0
9
8

4
,0
9
8

7
,6
3
8

7
,6
3
8

7
,6
3
8

  
  
 L
e
g
a
l 
A
d
v
is
o
r

4
0
,0
0
0

3
,5
5
3

5
,7
4
7

7
,3
0
1

  
  
 L
e
a
d
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
t

6
0
,0
0
0

1
2
,8
6
0

2
7
,6
0
7

3
3
,0
2
7

4
1
,4
9
4

4
4
,3
7
9

  
  
 T
e
n
a
n
t 
B
a
llo
t 
A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
to
r

1
5
,0
0
0

  
  
 T
ra
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s

4
6
5

4
6
5

4
6
5

4
6
5

4
6
5

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
:

P
o
s
ta
g
e

5
,0
0
0

5
,4
4
2

7
,5
8
7

1
1
,2
5
0

1
3
,9
4
4

1
5
,2
4
4

N
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs

2
5
,0
0
0

8
,8
9
1

1
2
,0
5
1

1
8
,6
5
1

2
4
,7
1
6

3
0
,8
9
1

D
V
D
's

2
1
,0
0
0

2
4
,8
9
4

2
4
,8
9
4

2
4
,8
9
4

O
ff
e
r 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t

2
1
,0
0
0

E
le
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
te
n
a
n
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
:

  
  
  
S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd

4
,4
9
8

4
,5
5
4

4
,5
5
4

4
,5
5
4

O
th
e
r 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 m
a
te
ri
a
ls

1
0
,0
0
0

1
,3
0
2

2
,8
3
5

9
,4
3
1

1
3
,9
4
1

1
6
,8
6
8

S
ta
ff
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

3
,0
0
0

7
2
0

7
2
0

7
2
0

7
2
0

F
re
e
p
h
o
n
e

1
,0
0
0

H
ir
e
 o
f 
ro
o
m
s

1
,0
0
0

2
0
4

1
,5
2
9

1
,8
6
3

1
,8
7
3

2
,2
7
9

P
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 o
f 
F
u
rn
it
u
re
 a
n
d
 E
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t

1
,7
5
0

2
4
2

2
4
2

2
4
2

2
4
2

S
h
a
d
o
w
 B
o
a
rd
 E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
E
x
p
e
n
s
e
s

1
,6
3
7

2
,7
1
7

2
,9
6
3

3
,6
0
5

L
o
g
o

7
5
0

7
5
0

7
5
0

M
is
c
e
ll
a
n
e
o
u
s

O
th
e
r

1
,5
0
0

1
7
6

1
7
6

3
3
7

3
3
7

3
3
7

S
u
b
-t
o
ta
ls

5
1
5
,0
0
0

4
5
,9
9
8

8
6
,1
1
2

1
7
8
,4
9
5

2
1
7
,6
9
7

2
3
8
,6
0
8

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 
a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s

2
2
5
,0
0
0

1
0
1
,6
7
0

1
6
9
,4
5
0

2
3
7
,2
3
0

3
0
5
,0
1
0

3
7
2
,7
9
0

T
o
ta
ls

7
4
0
,0
0
0

1
4
7
,6
6
8

2
5
5
,5
6
2

4
1
5
,7
2
5

5
2
2
,7
0
7

6
1
1
,3
9
8

Page 25



A
p
p
o
rt
io
n
e
d
 t
o
:

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d

2
7
5
,0
0
0

H
R
A

4
6
5
,0
0
0

7
4
0
,0
0
0

1
. 
T
h
e
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ta
l 
a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 a
p
p
o
rt
io
n
e
d
 o
n
 a
 p
ro
 r
a
ta
 b
a
s
is
 a
s
 a
c
tu
a
l 
a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 n
o
t 
b
e
 k
n
o
w
n
 u
n
ti
l 
a
c
c
o
u
n
ts
 a
re
 

c
lo
s
e
d
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9

Page 26



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Housing Portfolio Holder 3rd March 2009 

AUTHOR/S: Chief Executive / Principal Accountant (Housing) 
 

 
HOUSING FINANCIAL UPDATE 
FIRST TEN MONTHS OF 2008-09 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To support the finance reports attached to this document: 

(a) The Housing Capital Programme (Appendix A) 
(b) Housing General Fund (Appendix B) 
(c) The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) (Appendix C) 

 
Background 

 
2. The appendices attached to this report are presented to the Portfolio Holder to 

provide information on the financial position for the housing accounts.  
 

Considerations 
 
3. All of the information in the appendices is based on net payments made at the end of 

January 2009 in relation to the 2008-09 financial year, compared to the latest budget 
exclusive of any recharges. In this context, the Portfolio Holder should note that there 
may still be outstanding expenditure and/or income that has not been taken into 
account.  

 
Housing Capital Programme 

 
4. Appendix A provides a capital position statement for the first ten months of this 

financial year and shows the payments made, net of recharges, together with any firm 
commitments.  In this context, a firm commitment would arise where, for example, a 
contract has been signed for work that is expected to be completed during this 
financial year. 

 
5. Overall, a smaller portion of the programme is committed than would be expected at 

this point in the year.   The potential under-spend has mainly arisen in relation to the 
acquisition of existing dwellings because, as there were no repurchases at all in 
January, it is now likely that significantly fewer equity share properties will have to be 
repurchased than was anticipated when the revised budget was proposed.  
 
Housing General Fund 

 
6. Appendix B gives the General Fund position and compares expenditure to the latest 

budget excluding recharges.  
 
7. There is an under-spend on homelessness and this seems to confirm that the various 

preventative strategies that officers have put in place are continuing to be extremely 
successful.  However, there may be an upsurge in homelessness as a consequence 
of the current economic climate which may lead to the Council having to resort to the 
use of Bed and Breakfast accommodation, which is both expensive and 
unsatisfactory.   

 
8. In view of the substantial increase in homeless applications, the opportunity has been 

taken to vire some money from the homelessness budget mainly to enable additional 

Agenda Item 4Page 27



temporary staff to be employed in the homeless team to cover sickness and to deal 
with the increase in demand. 

 
9. The under-spend showing in relation to Choice Based Letting & Advisory Service is 

largely owing to the fact that, so far, the Council has only been asked to pay its share 
of the Sub-Regional Homelink Service for the early part of the year.  

 
10. The over-spend on the Sub-Regional Homelink Service has arisen because 

contributions have not yet been claimed from the various organisations who have 
agreed to pay towards the costs of this Council hosting the service. 

 
11. The Housing General Fund financial position at the end of January appears 

satisfactory, however, if expenditure on accommodation for homeless applicants 
continues at the present level there will be an under-spend. In view of the economic 
situation, this possibility should be viewed with caution.  

 
Housing Revenue Account 

 
12. Appendix C shows the latest estimate of the HRA position net of recharges. The 

statement shows an overall under-spend.   
 
13. There have been some vacancies (one of which has just been filled) in the sheltered 

housing service. Planned cyclical and internal decoration work on several of the 
communal rooms included in the revised estimate has not yet been started.  This 
work is, however, expected to be completed before the end of March. 

 
14. The under-spend on administration is mainly owing to a lack of progress on several IT 

projects included in the revised estimate. 
 
15. The HRA financial position at the end of January appears to be healthy with a net 

under-spend, which may reduce the call on reserves for 2008-09  
 

Implications 
 

Financial Contained with in the body of the report 

Legal None 

Staffing None 

Risk Management None 

16.  

Equal Opportunities None 

 
Consultations 

 
17. The cost centre managers have been consulted on the production of this report. 
 

Effect on Corporate Objectives and Service Priorities 
 

Work in partnership to manage growth to 
benefit everyone in South Cambridgeshire 
now and in the future 

Deliver high quality services that represent 
best value and are accessible to all our 
community 

18. 

Enhance quality of life and build a sustainable 
South Cambridgeshire where everyone is 
proud to live and work 

The effect of any under or overspending 
on the achievement of corporate 
objectives, service priorities and 
performance indicators and the linking of 
budgets with service performance is an 
outstanding issue which needs to be 
addressed.  

 

Page 28



Conclusions/Summary 
 
19. When recharges are excluded, the comparison of the first ten months position to the 

profiled revised estimates for 2008-09 shows under-spends on Housing Capital 
Programme, Housing General Fund and Housing Revenue Account. 

  
(a) Capital – apart from the expenditure against the provision for the repurchase 

of equity share properties, the Housing Capital Programme is on target to be 
fully spent.  

 
(b) Housing General Fund - the under-spend is largely owing to the success of 

preventative measures in relation to homelessness. 
 
(c) Housing Revenue Account – the under-spend is mainly a result of staff 

vacancies in sheltered housing and lack of progress with IT projects. 
 
20. In relation to the HRA, whilst there may be an in year under-spend when the position 

is compared to the revised estimate, the Portfolio Holder should note that the revised 
estimate is for a deficit requiring the use of reserves. Any “under-spend” could, 
therefore, be seen as a reduction in the estimated 2008-09 overspend. 

 
21. The figures should be viewed with caution, as there are several budgets where 

events outside the Council’s control, such as a spell of bad weather or a further 
downturn in the economic climate, could have an adverse impact.  However, the 
situation will continue to be monitored and consideration given to taking any available 
opportunities to progress projects and/or reallocate funding to other areas. 

 
Recommendations 

 
22. The Portfolio Holder is requested to note this report. 
 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report: 
 Estimate Book – recommended to Council on 12 February 2009 
  

 
Contact Officer:  Gwynn Thomas – Principal Accountant (Housing)  

Telephone: (01954) 713074 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is left blank intentionally.



  
  
  
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 A

H
o
u
s
in
g
 P
o
rt
fo
li
o

H
o
u
s
in
g
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 P
o
s
it
io
n
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9

 
 

R
e
v
is
e
d

A
d
ju
s
te
d

R
e
v
is
e
d
 N
e
t

N
e
t

A
m
o
u
n
ts

T
o
ta
l 
P
a
y
m
e
n
ts

A
c
tu
a
l

E
s
ti
m
a
te

R
e
v
is
e
d

C
D
S
S

E
s
ti
m
a
te

P
a
y
m
e
n
ts

C
o
m
m
it
te
d
 B
u
t

&
 C
o
m
m
it
tm

e
n
ts
 

2
0
0
7
/0
8

2
0
0
8
/0
9

V
ir
e
m
e
n
ts

2
0
0
8
/0
9

R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
s

E
x
c
l.
R
e
c
h
a
rg
e

T
o
 d
a
te

N
o
t 
S
p
e
n
t

 t
o
 d
a
te

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£

H
O
U
S
IN
G
 P
O
R
T
F
O
L
IO

 
 

 

 

N
E
W
 B
U
IL
D

6
,8
1
5
M
e
ld
re
th
 C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
F
a
c
ili
ty

5
6
,5
0
0
O
th
e
r

1
8
R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
s

6
3
,3
3
3
T
O
T
A
L
 N
E
W
 B
U
IL
D

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

IM
P
R
O
V
E
M
E
N
T
 O
F
 H
O
U
S
IN
G
 S
T
O
C
K

S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s

C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
F
a
c
ili
ty
 U
p
g
ra
d
e
s

3
7
,8
8
7

W
a
te
rb
e
a
c
h
 -
 D
e
n
s
o
n
 C
lo
s
e

0
0

0
0

3
4
0
1
2

A
rr
in
g
to
n
 -
 C
lif
d
e
n
 C
lo
s
e

2
9
,0
0
0

(3
,0
0
0
)

2
6
,0
0
0

2
6
,0
0
0

2
0
,8
1
0

2
,3
2
7

2
3
,1
3
7

4
0
,9
5
3

O
th
e
r 

7
1
,0
0
0

(3
0
,0
0
0
)

4
1
,0
0
0

4
1
,0
0
0

1
5
,0
1
1

2
0
,5
7
6

3
5
,5
8
7

7
4
K
e
y
 S
a
fe
 P
ro
je
c
t

0
0

0
0

1
4
,0
3
8
R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
s

7
,8
3
0

7
,8
3
0

(7
,8
3
0
)

0

1
2
6
,9
6
4
S
U
B
 T
O
T
A
L

1
0
7
,8
3
0

7
4
,8
3
0

(7
,8
3
0
)

6
7
,0
0
0

3
5
,8
2
1

2
2
,9
0
3

5
8
,7
2
4

5
,6
2
3
T
e
n
a
n
t 
P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
P
ro
je
c
ts

4
,0
0
0

4
,0
0
0

4
,0
0
0

9
8
5

0
9
8
5

O
th
e
r

0
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 W

o
rk
s

2
,0
0
0

(1
,0
0
0
)

1
,0
0
0

1
,0
0
0

1
5
6

0
1
5
6

1
5
,5
0
0
H
o
s
te
ls

1
4
,0
0
0

1
4
,0
0
0

1
4
,0
0
0

3
,8
9
3

8
,1
5
0

1
2
,0
4
3

0
F
la
t 
- 
C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
A
re
a
s

2
6
,0
0
0

2
6
,0
0
0

2
6
,0
0
0

2
5
,6
5
2

0
2
5
,6
5
2

1
5
,5
0
0
S
U
B
 T
O
T
A
L

4
2
,0
0
0

4
1
,0
0
0

0
4
1
,0
0
0

2
9
,7
0
1

8
,1
5
0

3
7
,8
5
1

H
R
A
 "
C
a
p
it
a
l 
W
o
rk
s
"

6
,6
7
3
,8
0
9
M
R
A
 F
u
n
d
e
d
 &
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
W
o
rk
s

6
,9
1
2
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

7
,0
1
2
,0
0
0

7
,0
1
2
,0
0
0

5
,4
3
1
,4
0
0

1
,6
2
9
,8
9
0

7
,0
6
1
,2
9
0

4
4
1
,1
6
9
A
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
s

2
6
3
,0
5
0

2
6
3
,0
5
0

(2
6
3
,0
5
0
)

0

7
,1
1
4
,9
7
8
S
u
b
-t
o
ta
l

7
,1
7
5
,0
5
0

7
,2
7
5
,0
5
0

(2
6
3
,0
5
0
)

7
,0
1
2
,0
0
0

5
,4
3
1
,4
0
0

1
,6
2
9
,8
9
0

7
,0
6
1
,2
9
0

7
,2
6
3
,0
6
5
T
O
T
A
L
 I
M
P
R
O
V
E
M
E
N
T
S

7
,3
2
8
,8
8
0

7
,3
2
8
,8
8
0

(2
7
0
,8
8
0
)

7
,1
2
4
,0
0
0

5
,4
9
7
,9
0
7

1
,6
6
0
,9
4
3

7
,1
5
8
,8
5
0

3
,3
6
4
,5
9
6
A
C
Q
U
IS
IT
IO
N
 O
F
 E
X
IS
T
IN
G
 D
W
E
L
L
IN
G
S

2
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

(3
5
,0
0
0
)

1
,9
6
5
,0
0
0

1
,9
6
5
,0
0
0

1
,3
2
9
,1
2
0

3
1
1
,5
8
0

1
,6
4
0
,7
0
0

3
4
,0
0
0
C
A
S
H
 I
N
C
E
N
T
IV
E
 G
R
A
N
T
S

6
8
,0
0
0

(3
4
,0
0
0
)

3
4
,0
0
0

3
4
,0
0
0

3
4
,0
0
0

0
3
4
,0
0
0

0
G
R
A
N
T
S
 T
O
 R
S
L
S

0
0

2
5
0
,0
0
0

0
0

0

1
0
,7
2
4
,9
9
4
T
O
T
A
L
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 

9
,3
9
6
,8
8
0

0
9
,3
2
7
,8
8
0

(2
7
0
,8
8
0
)

9
,3
7
3
,0
0
0

6
,8
6
1
,0
2
7

1
,9
7
2
,5
2
3

8
,8
3
3
,5
5
0

Page 31



Page 32

This page is left blank intentionally.



  
  
 A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 B

H
o
u
s
in
g
 G
e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d

P
o
s
it
io
n
 S
ta
te
m
e
n
t

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9

 
 

O
th
e
r

A
d
ju
s
te
d
 

N
e
t

V
a
ri
a
n
c
e

A
c
tu
a
l

R
e
v
u
s
e
d

A
d
j 
R
e
v
is
e
d

C
D
S
S

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d

 R
e
v
 E
s
t

P
ro
fi
le
d

P
a
y
m
e
n
ts

T
o
 P
o
rf
il
e
d

2
0
0
7
/0
8

2
0
0
8
/0
9

 V
ir
e
m
e
n
ts

2
0
0
8
/0
9

R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
s

R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
s

E
x
c
l.
R
e
c
h
a
rg
e

E
s
ti
m
a
te

T
o
 d
a
te

E
s
ti
m
a
te

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

 
H
O
U
S
IN
G
 P
O
R
T
F
O
L
IO

 
 

 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 G
e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d

 
N
E
T
 E
X
P
E
N
D
IT
U
R
E
 S
U
M
M
A
R
Y

9
,8
9
3

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

L
o
a
n
s
 f
o
r 
H
o
u
s
e
 P
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 &
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t

8
,4
6
0

8
,4
6
0

(3
,7
9
0
)

4
,6
7
0

4
,4
1
0

4
,6
5
5

2
4
5

1
3
1
,3
8
3

  
  
  
  
  
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 S
u
p
p
o
rt

1
2
5
,2
9
0

1
2
5
,2
9
0

(1
2
5
,2
9
0
)

0

2
0
8
,0
9
2

  
  
  
  
  
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s

2
5
7
,6
8
0

(2
0
,8
5
0
)

2
3
6
,8
3
0

(1
5
8
,9
0
0
)

7
7
,9
3
0

6
1
,8
4
0

3
1
,3
9
2

(3
0
,4
4
8
)

1
7
6
,9
8
8

  
  
  
  
  
 

C
h
o
ic
e
 B
a
s
e
d
 L
e
tt
in
g
s
 &
 A
d
v
is
o
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e

2
1
8
,9
8
0

2
1
8
,9
8
0

(4
0
1
,9
5
0
)

2
3
9
,3
7
0

5
6
,4
0
0

4
7
,0
0
0

2
4
,0
6
1

(2
2
,9
3
9
)

7
,5
8
5
F
lo
a
ti
n
g
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S
e
rv
ic
e

6
,6
6
0

6
,6
6
0

(1
2
1
,4
3
0
)

3
7
,7
7
0

(7
7
,0
0
0
)

(6
4
,1
7
0
)

(6
4
,3
0
6
)

(1
3
6
)

4
9
,1
9
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

S
h
o
p
p
in
g
 C
a
r 
P
a
rk
s

4
8
,0
4
0

4
8
,0
4
0

(5
,6
3
0
)

4
2
,4
1
0

4
0
,7
7
0

3
9
,6
7
6

(1
,0
9
4
)

1
6
,2
9
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

M
o
b
ile
 W

a
rd
e
n
 S
c
h
e
m
e
s

2
3
,2
4
0

2
3
,2
4
0

(6
,5
4
0
)

1
6
,7
0
0

1
3
,9
2
0

1
5
,2
5
0

1
,3
3
0

2
0
8
,5
2
2

  
  
  
  
  
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 H
o
u
s
in
g

1
8
6
,2
7
0

1
8
6
,2
7
0

(1
8
0
,6
2
0
)

5
,6
5
0

4
,7
1
0

5
,7
0
0

9
9
0

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

S
u
b
-r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
H
o
m
e
lin
k
 S
e
rv
ic
e

0
0

(5
9
,2
8
0
)

(5
9
,2
8
0
)

(4
9
,4
0
0
)

(8
,4
4
9
)

4
0
,9
5
1

R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
 f
ro
m
/(
to
) 
H
R
A

1
3
8
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
 

  
- 
G
ro
u
n
d
s
 M
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e

1
6
4
,0
0
0

1
6
4
,0
0
0

(1
6
4
,0
0
0
)

0

1
0
7
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
  
 

  
- 
S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g

7
7
,0
0
0

7
7
,0
0
0

(7
7
,0
0
0
)

0

(2
6
,2
9
0
)
  
- 
P
ip
e
r 
L
if
e
lin
e
 A
la
rm

s
(1
6
,5
6
0
)

(1
6
,5
6
0
)

1
6
,5
6
0

0

4
5
,7
0
9

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

  
- 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 &
 R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n

2
4
,7
5
0

2
4
,7
5
0

(2
4
,7
5
0
)

0

2
7
,3
8
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
 

  
- 
P
h
a
s
e
 2
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s

5
2
1
,1
3
0

5
2
1
,1
3
0

(5
2
1
,1
3
0
)

0

0 0

1
,0
9
9
,7
4
2

  
  
  

 
1
,6
4
4
,9
4
0

(2
0
,8
5
0
)

1
,6
2
4
,0
9
0

(1
,0
6
3
,4
3
0
)

(4
9
3
,1
8
0
)

6
7
,4
8
0

5
9
,0
8
0

4
7
,9
7
9

(1
1
,1
0
1
)

Page 33



Page 34

This page is left blank intentionally.



  
  

 A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

H
o

u
s

in
g

 R
e

v
e

n
u

e
 A

c
c

o
u

n
t

P
o

s
it

io
n

 S
ta

te
m

e
n

t

J
a

n
u

a
ry

 2
0

0
9

 
 

A
d

ju
s
te

d
O

th
e
r

A
d

ju
s
te

d
 

P
ro

fi
le

d
N

e
t 

V
a
ri

a
n

c
e

A
c
tu

a
l

R
e
v
is

e
d

R
e
v
is

e
d

C
D

S
S

Y
e
a
r 

E
n

d
 E

s
ti

m
a
te

m
o

n
th

P
a
y
m

e
n

ts
to

 P
ro

fi
le

d

2
0
0
7
/0

8
2
0
0
8
/0

9
 V

ir
e
m

e
n

ts
2
0
0
8
/0

9
R

e
c
h

a
rg

e
s

R
e
c
h

a
rg

e
s

E
x
c
l.
R

e
c
h

a
rg

e
E

x
p

e
n

d
it

u
re

to
 D

a
te

E
s
ti

m
a
te

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

£
£

 
H

O
U

S
IN

G
 P

O
R

T
F

O
L

IO
 

 
 

 

H
o

u
s

in
g

 R
e

v
e

n
u

e
 A

c
c

o
u

n
t

 
N

E
T

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

 S
U

M
M

A
R

Y

1
6
,1

9
8

R
e
n
ts

 R
a
te

s
 e

tc
1
0
,0

0
0

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
0
,0

0
0

1
0
,0

0
0

8
,3

3
0

9
,2

7
5

9
4
5

1
,8

5
4
,8

4
4

A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 (
N

e
t 
E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

)
2
,2

9
9
,1

7
0

(6
0
,0

0
0
)

2
,2

3
9
,1

7
0

(1
,7

6
7
,2

9
0
)

(1
8
9
,6

2
0
)

2
8
2
,2

6
0

2
3
5
,2

2
0

1
8
4
,0

4
3

(5
1
,1

7
7
)

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s

0

4
0
9
,5

5
9

  
S

h
e
lt
e
re

d
 H

o
u
s
in

g
5
9
6
,0

6
0

5
9
6
,0

6
0

(2
7
8
,9

9
0
)

6
8
9
,2

0
0

1
,0

0
6
,2

7
0

8
3
8
,5

6
0

7
7
1
,5

7
8

(6
6
,9

8
2
)

(6
,9

9
1
)

  
A

la
rm

s
(4

,4
0
0
)

(4
,4

0
0
)

(6
1
,0

4
0
)

(3
9
,5

6
0
)

(1
0
5
,0

0
0
)

(8
7
,5

0
0
)

(8
5
,1

9
6
)

2
,3

0
4

2
5
,2

0
3

  
F
la

ts
 -
 C

o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
A

re
a
s

4
4
,1

9
0

5
,0

0
0

4
9
,1

9
0

(2
6
,5

6
0
)

7
,0

0
0

2
9
,6

3
0

2
4
,6

9
0

2
5
,9

0
0

1
,2

1
0

1
3
2
,1

3
9

  
O

u
td

o
o
r 
M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e

1
5
7
,7

1
0

1
5
7
,7

1
0

(1
0
0
,3

5
0
)

1
7
0
,8

0
0

2
2
8
,1

6
0

1
9
0
,1

3
0

2
2
0
,0

4
1

2
9
,9

1
1

4
,0

3
0

  
S

e
w

a
g
e

(2
,0

9
0
)

(2
,0

9
0
)

(1
0
,8

0
0
)

(1
2
,8

9
0
)

(1
0
,7

4
0
)

(1
3
,2

2
3
)

(2
,4

8
3
)

1
5
5
,7

5
5

  
T
e
n
a
n
t 
P

a
rt
ic

ip
a
ti
o
n

1
9
4
,7

5
0

1
9
4
,7

5
0

(1
5
2
,3

5
0
)

2
,0

0
0

4
4
,4

0
0

3
7
,0

0
0

3
9
,4

9
5

2
,4

9
5

1
0
2
,5

6
1

  
H

o
s
te

ls
 f
o
r 
th

e
 H

o
m

e
le

s
s

5
2
,9

1
0

5
2
,9

1
0

(1
6
,8

5
0
)

3
6
,0

6
0

3
0
,0

5
0

2
5
,8

0
2

(4
,2

4
8
)

O
th

e
r 
E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

2
7
9

  
 R

e
g
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
H

R
A

 L
a
n
d

8
0
0

8
0
0

8
0
0

6
7
0

5
9

(6
1
1
)

2
,6

0
2
,4

7
7

  
C

o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
p
a
ir
s
 A

c
c
o
u
n
t

2
,9

8
1
,3

0
0

6
0
,0

0
0

3
,0

4
1
,3

0
0

3
,0

4
1
,3

0
0

2
,1

5
6
,7

3
0

2
,1

7
1
,7

5
0

1
5
,0

2
0

1
0
,0

4
8
,0

6
6

  
C

o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
  
to

 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P

o
o
l

1
1
,5

5
3
,3

4
0

1
1
,5

5
3
,3

4
0

1
1
,5

5
3
,3

4
0

1
0
,3

9
8
,0

1
0

1
0
,3

9
4
,4

7
1

(3
,5

3
9
)

0
  
P

ro
v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 
U

n
a
n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
 E

x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

0
0

0
0

0
0

(4
7
,7

4
1
)

  
P

ro
v
is

io
n
 f
o
r 
B

a
d
 o

r 
D

o
u
b
tf
u
l 
D

e
b
ts

5
,0

0
0

5
,0

0
0

(5
,0

0
0
)

0
0

4
2
,9

6
0

 C
o
n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 G

F
 r
e
 F

lo
a
ti
n
g
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

3
7
,7

7
0

3
7
,7

7
0

(3
7
,7

7
0
)

0
0

(2
0
,4

7
4
)

 S
u
rp

lu
s
 r
e
 B

u
ild

in
g
 M

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 C

o
n
tr
a
c
to

r
3
5
,0

0
0

3
5
,0

0
0

(3
5
0
,8

4
0
)

3
1
5
,8

4
0

0
0

2
9
3
,0

9
3

H
o
u
s
in

g
 F

u
tu

re
s
*

2
3
7
,7

0
0

2
3
7
,7

0
0

(3
7
6
,6

8
0
)

4
2
5
,0

0
0

2
8
6
,0

2
0

2
3
8
,3

5
0

2
4
4
,1

6
1

5
,8

1
1

U
n
a
llo

c
a
te

d
 R

e
c
h
a
rg

e
s

0
  
U

n
a
llo

c
a
te

d
  
R

e
s
tr
u
c
tu

re
 C

h
a
rg

e
(8

,8
2
0
)

(8
,8

2
0
)

8
,8

2
0

0
0

1
,4

6
0

  
B

e
s
t 
V

a
lu

e
 C

h
a
rg

e
8
,0

0
0

8
,0

0
0

(8
,0

0
0
)

0
0

3
5
1
,2

5
9

  
C

o
rp

o
ra

te
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

3
6
0
,7

6
0

3
6
0
,7

6
0

(3
6
0
,7

6
0
)

0
0

7
4
,3

7
0

  
D

e
m

o
c
ra

ti
c
 R

e
p
re

s
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 C

h
a
rg

e
8
0
,4

8
0

8
0
,4

8
0

(8
0
,4

8
0
)

0
0

1
7
,3

1
2

  
T
re

a
s
u
ry

 M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
C

h
a
rg

e
1
8
,9

9
0

1
8
,9

9
0

(1
8
,9

9
0
)

0
0

0
  
E

q
u
a
lit

y
 &

 D
iv

e
rs

it
y

2
0
,6

6
0

2
0
,6

6
0

(2
0
,6

6
0
)

0
0

3
,2

4
3
,9

3
3

  
D

e
p
re

c
ia

ti
o
n

3
,1

7
8
,4

0
0

3
,1

7
8
,4

0
0

(3
,1

7
8
,4

0
0
)

0
0

1
9
,3

0
0
,2

9
2

T
O

T
A

L
 E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
2
1
,8

5
7
,6

8
0

5
,0

0
0

2
1
,8

6
2
,6

8
0

(3
,1

4
1
,7

5
0
)

(2
,3

2
0
,5

8
0
)

1
6
,4

0
0
,3

5
0

1
4
,0

5
9
,5

0
0

1
3
,9

8
8
,1

5
6

(7
1
,3

4
4
)

IN
C

O
M

E

(1
9
,5

9
5
,8

0
3
)

G
ro

s
s
 R

e
n
t 
In

c
o
m

e
 f
ro

m
 D

w
e
lli
n
g
s

(2
0
,7

3
0
,0

0
0
)

(2
0
,7

3
0
,0

0
0
)

(2
0
,7

3
0
,0

0
0
)

(1
7
,1

8
2
,1

0
0
)

(1
7
,1

8
0
,4

0
4
)

1
,6

9
6

(3
8
0
,0

8
1
)

G
a
ra

g
e
s
 e

tc
(3

6
0
,0

0
0
)

(5
,0

0
0
)

(3
6
5
,0

0
0
)

(3
6
5
,0

0
0
)

(3
0
5
,3

0
0
)

(3
0
6
,8

0
1
)

(1
,5

0
1
)

(1
9
,9

7
5
,8

8
4
)

T
O

T
A

L
 I
N

C
O

M
E

(2
1
,0

9
0
,0

0
0
)

(5
,0

0
0
)

(2
1
,0

9
5
,0

0
0
)

0
0

(2
1
,0

9
5
,0

0
0
)

(1
7
,4

8
7
,4

0
0
)

(1
7
,4

8
7
,2

0
5
)

1
9
5

(6
7
5
,5

9
2
)

N
e
t 

C
o

s
t 

o
f 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

7
6
7
,6

8
0

0
7
6
7
,6

8
0

(3
,1

4
1
,7

5
0
)

(2
,3

2
0
,5

8
0
)

(4
,6

9
4
,6

5
0
)

(3
,4

2
7
,9

0
0
)

(3
,4

9
9
,0

4
9
)

(7
1
,1

4
9
)

(1
7
0
,6

2
9
)

In
te

re
s
t 
R

e
c
e
iv

a
b
le

(1
3
0
,0

0
0
)

(1
3
0
,0

0
0
)

1
3
0
,0

0
0

(8
4
6
,2

2
1
)

T
O

T
A

L
 N

E
T

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

6
3
7
,6

8
0

0
6
3
7
,6

8
0

(3
,1

4
1
,7

5
0
)

(2
,1

9
0
,5

8
0
)

(4
,6

9
4
,6

5
0
)

(3
,4

2
7
,9

0
0
)

(3
,4

9
9
,0

4
9
)

(7
1
,1

4
9
)

Page 35



Page 36

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Housing Portfolio Holder March 2009 

AUTHOR/S: Corporate Manager Affordable Homes 
 

 
AFFORDABLE HOMES: SERVICE PLAN 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To provide an overview for updated service plan for 2009/10 – 2011/12. 
 

This is a not a key decision.  
 

Background 
 

2. All service areas within SCDC have to provide a service improvement plan setting out 
how the service will be developed over the following three years. This document 
includes the HRA parts of housing but also gives wider coverage to those part of the 
housing service that are funded mainly by the general Fund e.g. homelessness. This 
report will be presented to the March Portfolio Holder meeting. 

 
3. This Service Plan should be read in conjunction with the HRA Business Plan and the 

Fiver Year Housing Maintenance Plan which were considered by the Portfolio Holder 
at the meeting in February 2009. 
 
Considerations 
 

4. This document is refreshed on an annual basis. Consideration will be given next year 
to combining the Service Plan and Business Plan elements as they share much of the 
same content and need to be read in conjunction with each other. The Five Year 
Housing Maintenance Plan is already an appendix of the HRA Business Plan. 

 
5. The presumption for the document is that the housing stock will remain in the 

ownership of the Council. Reference has been made however to the Housing Futures 
project which may result in the transfer of the Council’s housing to South 
Cambridgeshire Village Homes if tenants vote in favor of transfer during 2009. 

 
6. The Service Plan contains an action plan that includes both activities that will need to 

occur whatever the outcome of the tenant ballot as well as some actions that will only 
be applicable if the tenants vote to retain Council ownership of their homes. There are 
no actions listed associated with a vote in favour of stock transfer to South 
Cambridgeshire Village Homes as these would form a separate action plan. 

 
7. The results of the recent Statutory Tenants Survey (STATUS) shows that overall 

levels of satisfaction with the housing service amongst tenants remains high. 
 
8. The STATUS survey also confirms that there are high levels of disability amongst the 

tenant population with 50% of households having at least one person with a long-term 
disability and 10% of households having a wheelchair user. 

 

Agenda Item 5Page 37



9. The resources to run the housing service are considerably reduced from 2009/10 as 
the first reduction in the capital programme is implemented with further cuts showing 
from 2010/11. Overall more than £3 million has been cut from the budget. 

 
10. The revenue budget is also shown to be running at a deficit for the next four years 

running down the reserves until 2013/14 when the only way to balance the books will 
be to make significant savings of more than £500,000. 

 
11. The service plan takes account of the challenges posed by the continuing economic 

downturn ion the country as a whole. 
 

Legal None 

Staffing None 

Risk Management A housing risk matrix is included within the Service Plan  

12.  

Equal Opportunities The need to address issues relating to equal opportunities and 
diversity are addressed within the Service Plan. 

 
Consultations 

 
13. The Service Plan reflects a range of tenant and staff input. The Housing Maintenance 

plan is drawn up with substantial input from a panel that includes tenants and elected 
members. 
 
 
Effect on Service Priorities and Corporate Objectives for 2008/09 

 

Work in partnership to manage growth to benefit everyone in South 
Cambridgeshire now and in the future 

Partnership working is central to housing work.  
 

Deliver high quality services that represent best value and are accessible to all 
our community 

A high level of service has been delivered to date and the Housing Service will strive to 
achieve the best outcomes it can for tenants within the resources available.  
 

Enhance quality of life and build a sustainable South Cambridgeshire where 
everyone is proud to live and work 

14.  

The quality of SCDC homes and the services offered by Housing play a role in the 
quality of life for all residents in the South Cambridgeshire villages. 

 
Recommendations 
 
That the Housing Portfolio Holder approves the Affordable Homes Service Plan. 

 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  
 
Draft STATUS Survey 2008, MRUK 
 

 
Contact Officer:  Stephen Hills – Corporate Manager Affordable Homes  

Telephone: (01954) 713412 

Page 38



333 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

March 2009 (draft 4) 

Affordable Homes Service Plan 

2009/10 – 2011/12 

Page 39



 2 

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

SERVICE PLAN FOR AFFORDABLE HOMES 
 

2009/10 TO 2011/12 
 
Corporate Manager: Stephen Hills 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Simon Edwards 
 

CONTENTS 
 Page 
1. Introduction 3 
2. Service Plan Overview 4 

2.1 Key functions and responsibilities 4 
2.2 Context 5 

External Drivers  
Key partners  
Strengths & weaknesses  
Opportunities and threats  

2.3 Service objectives 10 
2.4 Progress/performance overview 11 
2.5 The customers of the Housing Service 18 
2.6 Resources 21 
2.7 Value For Money overview 21 
2.8 Workforce overview 22 
2.9 Equalities overview 22 
2.10 Risk overview 24 

3. Service Improvement Plan summary 25 
4. Operational Plans summary 26 
5. Proposals for new expenditure summary 27 
  
APPENDICES  
A    Risk register  
B    Service Improvement Plan  
C    Operational Plans  

Housing Services  
Property Services  
Housing Strategy & Enabling Services  
Housing Advice and Options  

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 3 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 
This Service Plan covers the period 2009/10 to 2011/12. The Plan will however be 
refreshed on an annual basis. Annual Service Plans always need to accommodate 
change. This year’s Service Plan is particularly challenging because of the need to 
prepare for two potential future scenarios dependant upon the outcome of the tenant 
ballot on Housing Futures. 
 
Housing services in South Cambridgeshire will look very different whatever the outcome 
of the tenant ballot. If stock transfer is chosen there will be more money available to 
spend on improvements and services and the homes will be managed by the Board of 
South Cambridgeshire Village Homes which will include tenant representatives, council 
representatives and independent members.  
 
The Service Improvement Plan identifies some of the actions required to address the 
Housing Futures project, however, the detail associated with Housing Futures is 
contained within the project documentation and not located within this Service Plan. 
Similarly the detailed action plan required to set up South Cambridgeshire Village 
Homes will only be developed in detail post ballot. 
 
If stock retention is chosen the council will continue to manage the homes but the 
amount of money available for spending on the homes and services will be markedly 
less than at present, and cutbacks will be unavoidable. The exact scale and timing of 
these cutbacks will be identified in detail out over the next year and the impact will be felt 
from 2009/10 onwards. The companion report to the Service Plan, the HRA Business 
Plan 2009/10 –2013/14, sets out the extent of the financial cutbacks that will result from 
the government’s financial regime if retention is chosen. 
 
The challenges and risks facing the Council’s Housing Services are set out in the rest of 
this plan. Where service improvements are possible these are detailed as are the 
operational activities measured by the Council’s performance management system. The 
Service Plan also contains a number of projects that will be required to begin detailing 
the service cuts required in the event of tenants voting  for the Council to retain 
ownership of its housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 4 

2. SERVICE PLAN OVERVIEW 
 

2.1  Key  Functions and Responsibilities 
 
The Housing Service has three primary functions: 
 

• A landlord service providing housing management and property maintenance 
services to tenants 

 

• An enabling service working in partnership with other local authorities and 
housing associations to ensure the development of new affordable homes within 
the District and in partnership on strategic sites in Cambridge City. 

 

• Housing advice and options service seeking to prevent homelessness and to 
provide accommodation for those in housing need (including those who are 
already homeless), through a new choice based lettings scheme and other 
housing options. The provision of this service is a statutory requirement for the 
local authority.  

 
These broad functions can be further divided into a series of more specialist functions. 
The landlord service for example includes the sheltered housing service, with sheltered 
housing representing around one third of the 5,800 homes owned by South 
Cambridgeshire District Council. Within the landlords service there is also a property 
services team that also includes a Direct Labour Organisation (DLO).  
 
The structure of the Housing service therefore reflects these primary functions and 
consists of four main service areas: 
 
 
Housing Service Structure 
 

Service area Specialist teams 

Housing services  
 

Housing management, sheltered 
housing, leaseholder services, 
property sales, Carecall, Gypsy & 
Traveller management, floating 
support team 
 

Property services Property surveyors, capital 
improvements programme, 
responsive and void maintenance 
management, DLO 
 

Housing advice & options Housing advice, homelessness 
team,  Choice Based Lettings 
 

Housing Strategy & Enabling Enabling function, housing strategy, 
development 
 

 

Page 42



 5 

If tenants vote in favour of establishing South Cambridgeshire Village Homes, then all of 
Housing Services and Property services would transfer to the new landlord. Housing 
Advice & Options and Housing Strategy and Enabling would be strategic and statutory 
services retained by the Council. 
 
 

2.2 Context 
 
a) External Drivers 
There are a number of potential external influences on housing service provision. The 
following is a brief PESTE analysis of those issues likely to affect housing in the next 
three years.  

 
Political 
Growth agenda – The development of significant numbers of new homes within 
South Cambridgeshire including the development of a new town within the 
District  and significant development on the fringes of Cambridge City  
 
New joint planning arrangements – the new arrangements for an inter district 
planning lead for the growth agenda  
 
Community empowerment – moves to make service delivery more accountable 
on an area basis rather than by service specific measure including the new 
Comprehensive Area Assessment regulatory process from the Audit 
Commission, alongside the new “short-notice” targeted inspections 
 

 
Economic/Social 

The continuing negative subsidy arrangement imposed on the Housing Revenue 
Account will put even greater pressure on the housing management and 
maintenance spends, and the national pooling of capital receipts together with 
reducing numbers of Right to Buy sales is already cutting back capital resources. 
 
Migrants – eastern European migrant workers in particular and earlier phases of 
migrants becoming eligible to apply for public services. Research is still being 
undertaken by organisations outside of the Council to try and quantify the 
potential impacts of migration and settlement patterns. 
 
Uncertain economic conditions following the ‘credit crunch’ and volatile banking 
sector during 2008 and the overall economic downturn.  Slowdown of private 
sector development – as a result of international changes in finance and the 
national slowdown in the housing market 
 
Olympic effect – could affect labour and material supplies and have an 
inflationary impact on the construction industry 
 
 
Mortgage repossessions – potential issues emerging from falling house prices 
and high levels of existing debt plus a more cautionary lending policy from major 
institutions excluding some potential marginal purchasers 
 

Page 43



 6 

Potential impacts on workload as a result of administration of the Mortgage 
Rescue package 
 
Private rented sector restructuring following international finance changes – 
impact on housing market overall and response of Buy to Let market in particular.  
 
Possible increase in number of lets being made available by housing 
associations as ‘intermediate lets’. 
 
Rising unemployment 

The welfare of children, young people and vulnerable adults.  

The Housing Service is committed to safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children, young people and vulnerable adults. The Housing 
Service area will ensure: 

 

• Safer recruitment and employment practices are followed 

• Relevant officers are aware of safeguarding reporting policies 

• Appropriate safeguarding training is given to officers  
 

 
Technical 
Changes to disabled and vulnerable people funding – individual budgets could 
shift demand for services 
 
Housing Benefit changes - Local housing allowance/Broad Rental Market Areas 
may lead to increased demand on mediation services and has the potential for 
increased levels of homelessness. 
 
Local Supporting People (SP) issues – the restructuring of SP funds within 
Cambridgeshire could lead to the tendering of the sheltered housing service . 
The floating support service and Home Improvement Agency could also be 
tendered. 
 
Shared equity issues – the current treatment of capital receipts places a financial 
burden upon the Council.  
 
Ending of ring fencing for shared budgets in the LAA, including Supported People 
funding in the medium term 
 
Energy Performance Certificates introduced – workload impacts 
 
New ‘safeguarding’ legislation may impact workload and may have budgetary 
impact 
 
Impact of new licences for Gypsies and Travellers  
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 7 

Environmental 
Geography of district – the essentially dispersed and rural nature of the district 
with no central market town as a natural focus has a significant bearing on 
service delivery e.g. providing a focus for tenant participation activity. 
 
Climate change issues may lead to increased costs or delivery problems-eg off 
site construction methods may not suit small village development needs. 

 
b) Key Partners 
The housing service is delivered in partnership with a range of other organisations.  The 
major partnerships are listed below.  

 
The impact of these partnerships is maximised by a combination of activities including 
the hosting of events and meetings, regular attendance at liaison meetings, attendance 
at sub regional bodies, some service level agreements, the provision of information to 
partners and engagement in forums as well as direct funding of partners via cash 
(commuted sums) or other resources (eg free land). Joint procurement is adopted where 
this provides better value for money. 

 

• Other local authorities 

• Supporting People 

• Various housing associations 

• DAAT & CDIP 

• MAPPA 

• Homes & Community Agency  

• Tenant Services Authority  

• EERA 

• County Council 

• GO East 

• PCT 

• Probation & Youth Offending Team 

• DIS Learning Partnership 

• Connexions 

• Office of Children & Young People Services 

• Parish councils 

• Cambridgeshire Horizons 

• Various contractors 

• Tenant Participation Group 

• Various developers 

• CAB & voluntary organisations 

• Cambridge sub-Regional Housing Board 

• Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
 
This list is not exhaustive as there are at least 50 groups, working parties and liaison for 
a where housing services work with external partners. The Council has adopted a more 
vigorous risk management process for all partnership working during 2008. This has 
identified Supporting People as one of the Councils key partnerships. 

 
 
 

Page 45



 8 

c) Strengths & weaknesses 
There are a number of factors affecting the ability of the Housing Service to deliver its 
service obligations. These are shown below as strengths and weaknesses. 

 
Strengths 

• There is a strong commitment to team working across the service and a focus on 
working with other services areas within housing and within the Council. 

 

• There is a depth of experience and technical knowledge 
 

• The staff are committed to providing the best service they can 
 

• The close proximity of most staff is an asset and the dispersed workforce is also 
managed well. 

 

• Effective use of partnership working 
  

• The implementation of the new CBL procedure and the closely connected new 
voids procedure has produced a significant improvement performance from 41 
days to 15 days. 

 
Weaknesses 

• The most significant factor is the reducing amount of finance available to run the 
service in the next three years and beyond. 

 

• Whilst there is a depth of knowledge and experience there are few mentoring 
schemes in place, no consistency in skill sharing and poor succession planning 

 

• There is an increasing reliance upon IT but the support services are limited and 
not effectively coordinated with the housing service. A project is currently 
underway to analyse this issue in more detail. 

 

• There is work still to be done to ensure that the structures to deliver services are 
the most effective ones for the future e.g. rents currently lies within Finance and 
not Housing (although the overall performance of this team has been good) 

 

• There is a lack of consistency around service standards and some service 
standards are missing. The introduction of ADAPT and Housemark will allow 
projects in the Service Plan to address this.  

 

• Some specialist staff are in high demand from other authorities and organisations 
who may be able to offer better terms eg planning staff, development and 
enabling staff, project managers etc 

 

• Approach to diversity not fully developed 
 

• Lack of embedded value for money ethos  
 

• Need to improve data management  
 

Page 46



 9 

 
d) Opportunities and Threats 
The PESTE analysis indicates the range of external factors that impact upon the 
environment in which the housing service is delivered. The following is a list of the 
specific opportunities and threats for the Housing Service over the next three years. 
 
Opportunities 

• The prospect of forming a new LSVT housing association would allow for a 
significant increase in money available to resource the service. However, this is 
dependent upon a ballot of tenants in Spring 2009. The service plan is therefore 
based primarily upon a stock retention scenario.  

 

• Other opportunities include sub regional working, and partnership working with 
Cambridge City, continues to afford opportunities to share service delivery 

 

• An improved focus on resident engagement and tenant participation  
 

• The opportunity to increase efficiency arising from the implementation of a new 
web based system (ADAPT) for all polices and procedures, the use of 
Housemark and new technology e.g. PDAs 

 

• The new Supporting People commissioning strategy could offer new 
opportunities such as the development of floating support services 

 

• The new arrangements for the LAA and the LSP whilst not focused specially on 
housing issues could provide some useful support for related activities such as 
tackling ASB 

 

• The development opportunities offered by the strategic sites 
 
Threats 
In determining these lists it is often the case that the opportunities identified could also 
be regarded as threats and vice versa. The key threats recognised by the Housing 
Service include: 
 

• Lack of resources – there will be a significant budget cut over the next five 
years and an increasing lack of funds thereafter unless a stock transfer is 
voted for by the tenants. 

 

• The Government has yet to amend the financial regulations to prevent the 
equity share receipts being treated in the same way as RTB sales  

 

• Supporting People tendering – the proposed changes could have a 
significant effect on the resources allocated to meet the cost of running 
our sheltered housing schemes and the future of the staff involved, 
including floating support and the Home Improvement Agency.  

 

• Limited tenant involvement – the Housing Service is unlikely to have the 
funds required to promote tenant involvement if early efforts are met with 
a lack of engagement. Unless transfer takes place, the problem will be 

Page 47



 10 

encouraging a wider group of tenants to become involved in the context of 
significant reductions in their services. 

 

• Reluctance to change (staff) – the service will be undergoing a significant 
period of change in the next here years and there may be some staff that 
will find change difficult to accept. 

 

• Gypsies and Travellers –there are high numbers of Gypsies and 
Travellers in South Cambridgeshire and there is always the risk of 
significant social disturbance particularly if site provision is not able to 
match demand. The problems experienced at Smithy Fen in recent years 
are an example of this. 

 

• Global economic uncertainty and the threat of national recession 
 

• The fall in house prices makes it more difficult to negotiate contributions 
to affordable housing provision in conjunction with planning applications. 
Once the housing market revives the loss of production in the intervening 
years is likely to lead to renewed house price inflation due to shortages. 

 

• DLO Viability 
 

2.3 Service Objectives 
 

The Housing Service Plan is guided by the Council’s corporate objectives. The Council 
has adopted the following vision for 2009/10: 

“To make South Cambridgeshire a safe and healthy place where residents are 
proud to live and where there will be opportunities for employment, enterprise 
and world-leading innovation. We will be a listening Council, providing a voice for 
rural life and first-class services accessible to all.” 

This is supported by five guiding Aims with 25 Approaches and 35 specific actions. 
Whilst some of the actions have a connection with housing such as anti social behaviour, 
there are none where Housing is the lead service. Consequently there are no actions to 
list under the Action Plan template for this part of the service plan.  
 
The five guiding aims are as follows: 
 

• We are committed to being a listening council providing first class services 
accessible to all 

• We are committed to ensuring that South Cambridgeshire continues to be a safe 
and healthy place for you and your family  

• We are committed to making South Cambridgeshire a place in which residents 
can feel proud to live 

• We are committed to assisting provision for local jobs for you and your family 

• We are committed to providing a voice for rural life 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



 11 

The overall service objective for Housing is as follows: 
 

To provide access to decent affordable housing 
 

This is to be achieved by providing an excellent housing service to meet the needs 
and reflect the aspirations of South Cambridgeshire residents, working in partnership 
with tenants and other organisations at a local and national level to enhance quality 
of life and make South Cambridgeshire a place where everyone is proud to live and 
work.   
 

The service objectives for each of the main service areas are as follows: 
Service area Objective 

Housing services  
 

Improve housing services and tenant 
involvement and promote sustainable 
communities 
 

Property services Providing decent housing through the delivery 
of effective maintenance & improvements 
 

Housing advice & 
options 

To provide housing advice to enable people to 
understand their housing options to sustain & 
improve their current home or access 
alternative good quality & suitable housing. 
 

Housing Strategy & 
Enabling 

 to ensure that sufficient new schemes are 
identified for future development,  approved 
schemes are delivered to meet identified needs 
and to ensure that new or emerging needs are 
properly identified for future provision. 
 

 
The relationship between the service specific objectives and the Corporate priorities 
are demonstrated in the ‘golden threads’ that run through the Service Improvement 
Plan and the Operational Plan. 
 
The Service Improvement Plan is shared by the Housing Service as a whole, 
however, this year it also includes a number of actions to address the need to reduce 
service costs if there is not to be a transfer to South Cambridgeshire Village Homes. 
These actions are mainly related to the work of Housing Services and Property 
Services teams, not those parts of the housing service that would be retained by the 
Council if stock transfer goes ahead. The Operational Plans are reflective of the four 
main sub divisions of the service and this year is focussed on those areas measured 
by the new corporate performance management tool.  
 

2.4 Progress/Performance Overview 
 

With the national change to National Indicators (NIs) instead of Best Value 
Performance Indicators (BVPIs) comparison between BVPIs will no longer be 
possible.  
 
Performance in housing is now measured in four ways: 

Page 49



 12 

 

• The new set of 35 NIs adopted by the Cambridgeshire LAA some of 
which apply to housing. These have been adopted for the first time in 
2008.09 so there will be no direct historical comparison in some cases. 

 

• The set of SCDC performance indicators selected for measurement using 
CORVU. This has been adopted for the first time in 2008/09 so there will 
be no direct historical comparison. 

 

• The key ‘heartbeat’ indicators used by the housing service managers to 
monitor service performance in key areas. This does allow comparison 
with historical performance. 

 

• The benchmarking of key areas of housing performance using the 
benchmarking facilities provided by a national organisation called 
Housemark. The Council has only subscribed to Housemark in August 
2008 so the outputs from this will not be available until early 2009. 

 
All of the 58 CorVu PIs relevant to the Housing Service Plan are listed in 
Appendix C together with associated actions to maximise the effectiveness of 
delivery against these measure during 2009/10. Six (or 7) of the 58 PIs are not 
directly relevant to the service plan but the results will be monitored to ensure the 
service is aware of the wider picture. These six (or 7) are not directly relevant for 
the following reasons: 
 

NI 138 Satisfaction of people over 65 
with both home and neighbourhood 

This is a district wide measure 
including owner occupiers and will only 
be marginally affected by the Housing 
Service 
 

NI 141 Number of vulnerable people 
achieving independent living 

This is a countywide measure that is 
primarily focussed on the  work of 
social services 
 

NI 142 Number of vulnerable people 
who are supported to maintain 
independent living 

This is a countywide measure that is 
primarily focussed on the work of 
social services 
 

NI 1046 Yong offenders access to 
suitable accommodation 

This is a countywide measure that is 
primarily focussed on the  work of 
social services and other agencies 
 

The two items relating to the 
completion of the sub regional housing 
strategy 

This work is completed and will not be 
a part of the work in 2009/10 
 

 
The table below provides a summary of the performance of the Housing Service 
against the SCDC Performance Indicators for 2007/08.  These figure have been 
taken from the Integrated Business Monitoring report seen by cabinet on 12/6/08. 
 

Page 50



 13 

Work is required in the coming year to develop the PIs for housing ensuring that 
there is opportunity for front line staff to contribute to this development. 
 
Summary of PI performance for Housing 2007/08 

 
Performance 
Measure 

Target 
achieved 

06007 to 
07/08 

direction 
of travel 

Note 

SH311 Number 
of completed new 
affordable homes 

N  398 achieved against target of 565 with 227 
being achieved the previous year. Targets are 
set by looking at what is in the pipeline but 
there are a number of external factors including 
time taken to obtain planning permission as 
well as local and national market factors over 
which the housing service has no control. 
 

BV66a rent 
collection & rent 
arrears recovery 
% of HRA 

Y  98.4% rent collection 
 

BV66b rent 
collection & rent 
arrears recovery 
– No of tenants 
over 7 weeks 
arrears 

Y   

BV66c rent 
collection & rent 
arrears recovery -
% of NOSPs 

N  21.16% against a target of 13% but non leading 
to eviction and an improved rent collection rate 
 

Bv66d rent 
collection & rent 
arrears recovery - 
% of evictions 

Y  No evictions 

SH 302 Tenants 
satisfied with 
responsive 
repairs 

Y  98% 
 

SH 327 % of 
repair jobs – 
appointment 
made and kept 

Y  98% 

SH 328 Tenants 
satisfied with 
refurbishments 

Y  97% 

BV183a length of 
stay in B&B 
 

N  4.5 days against a target of 2 however data is 
historical as no actual use of B&B was made 
during 2007/08  
 

BV183b length of 
stay in hostel 
 

N  26.8 days against target of 24 but up from 34.9 
in previous year 

BV184a non 
decent LA 
dwellings - % 

N  24% against a target of 2% based on 4% 
position at end of previous year. The previous 
years figures had been based on a flawed 

Page 51



 14 

 stock condition survey and incomplete asset 
management data. During 2008 this has been 
rectified and the non decent figure has now 
dropped from 24% to 15% and is still on target 
to be met by the 2010 deadline 
 
 

BV184b non 
decent LA 
dwellings 
(change) 
 

N  See note above for BV184a 
 

BV203 change in 
No of families in 
TA 
 

Y   
 
 

BV212 average 
relet time 
 

N  Year ended at 41 days against a target of 36 
but performance has now improved to under 15 
days during 2008 
 

BV213 
prevention of 
homelessness 
 

Y   
 
 

BV214 repeat 
homelessness 
 

Y  1.9 cases against a target of 2, 0 in previous 
year 

 
There are no performance indictors which give rise for concern. The improved 
performance on voids is being monitored to ensure that this is sustained and the new 
asset management software is allowing careful tracking of performance against the 
decent homes target. 
 
The housing management team also regularly review 5 ‘heartbeat’ PIs: 
 

• Rent arrears 

• Tenant satisfaction with repairs 

• Void times 

• Time to complete repairs 

• Gas servicing 
 
 The following charts show the current in year performance in these key areas and 
demonstrate that overall performance is on target. A new set of heartbeat indicators 
developed with tenants will be adopted in 2010 
 

• Emergency repairs attended to within 24 hours 

• Urgent repairs completed within 5 days 

• Routine repairs completed within 23 days 

• Average time to complete a repair 

• Satisfaction with repair contractors 

• Satisfaction with housing repairs service 

• Average time to relet a property 

• Number of overdue gas services 

Page 52



 15 

• Level of current rent arrears 

• Rent loss through empty properties 
 
A mid year review of gas boiler compliance was undertaken and this revealed some 
flaws in the monitoring process. This has now been rectified but has resulted in a small 
backlog of boilers that will need to be brought in line before the end of the year. New 
processes are in place and operating to deal with this issue. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



P
a

g
e
 5

4



Current 2008/09 performance against housing management ‘heartbeat’ 
indicators

  

P
a
g
e
 5

5



The suite of BVPIs have been replaced from April 2008 with a new set of National 
Performance Indicators (NIs). Whilst here are 198 NIs there has been a substantial 
reduction in the number of PIs directly relevant to housing. The housing related NIs 
include: 

 
NI Headline definition Adopted by 

LAA 

154 Net additional homes provided N 

155 Number of affordable homes delivered (gross) Y 

156 Number of households living in temporary 
accommodation 

N 

158 Percentage of decent council homes N 

160 Local authority tenants satisfaction with landlord 
services 

N 

 
While these remain part of the national list work has been undertaken by the 
Cambridgeshire LAA to identify 35 NIs for the County and only one of these NI155 has 
direct relevance to housing although it is also related to planning 
 

2.5 The Customers of the Housing Service 
 
The customers of the Housing Service incorporate the following groups: 

 

• Tenants of SCDC 

• Leaseholders 

• People applying as homeless 

• People seeking to be housed by SCDC or housing associations 

• People seeking housing advice 

• Gypsies and Travellers living on sites managed by SCDC 

• Parish Councils 

• RSLs 

• Internal customers e.g. Planning Service 
 

The list shows that the customer base is much wider than just the existing tenants. More 
work is needed to understand the profile of this customer set including issues of 
diversity. Better use of customer profiling was a key action identified by the independent 
assessment of the Housing Service carried out by Savills in July 2008. 
 
Customer satisfaction is measured across the Housing Service in a number of ways. The 
approach to gathering this information is however not consistent throughout the service 
and so a separate project has been identified for 2009/10 to review and improve 
customer satisfaction data. 
 
Every two years a survey of council tenants is undertaken on behalf of the CLG. This 
provides a useful overview of current level of satisfaction with the housing service as well 
as useful data on the tenants themselves. The executive summary of the latest report 
complete din January 2009 is included below. 
 
 
 

 

Page 56



 19 

Key Findings from 2008 South Cambridgeshire STATUS Survey 

 

The household 

 

• Four fifths of respondents (43%) have been a tenant for 21 years or more. 

• Over half the respondents have lived in their home for 11 years or more (53%)  

• Half the households (50%) contain someone who has a long-standing illness, 
health problem or disability which limits their daily activities. One in ten 
households have a wheelchair user. 

Satisfaction with services provided 

 

• Four fifths of respondents (82%) expressed satisfaction with the overall services 
provided by their landlord. This was consistent with the 2006 survey when 81% of 
respondents said they were satisfied.  

Housing and Services 

 

• The majority of respondents were satisfied with the overall quality of their home 
(88%), the general condition of their property (86%) and the value for money of 
their rent (82%). 

• Nearly all respondents said they were satisfied with their neighbourhood as a 
place to live (92%).    

• The biggest problem in the local neighbourhood was car parking.  

• The three most important services for tenants were repairs and maintenance, the 
overall quality of home and value for money of rent.  

Contact with Local Authority 

 
• The majority of respondents (74%) had been in touch with their landlord in the 

last twelve months. 

• The most popular way to contact the landlord was via the telephone. 

• The main reason for making contact was repairs and maintenance. 

• The majority of respondents rated aspects of contact as good. There has been 
an increase in the scores for the following aspects since the 2006 survey:  ease 
of getting hold of the right person, helpfulness of staff and overall satisfaction with 

how enquiry was dealt with.  

Repairs and Maintenance 

 
• Four fifths of respondents (83%) expressed satisfaction with the way their 

landlord deals with repairs and maintenance. Satisfaction with the way the 

Page 57



 20 

landlord deals with repairs and maintenance has increased from 79% in 2006 to 
79% in 2008. 

• For those respondents who have had a repair completed in the past twelve 
months, satisfaction was high with aspects of the repairs service. Results are 

consistent with the 2006 survey. 

Communication and Information 

 

• Nearly all the respondents said they prefer to be informed about issues that may 
affect them by letter (82%). 

• Two thirds of respondents were satisfied their views were being taken into 
account (64%). 

• Four fifths of respondents (82%) rated the way their landlord keeps then informed 
as good. 

• The percentage of respondents rating the way their landlord keeps them 
informed has increased from 76% in 2006 to 82% in 2008.  

Anti-social behaviour 

 

• One in ten respondents (9%) have reported anti-social behaviour in the last 
twelve months. 

• Of those, a quarter said it was difficult to get hold of the right person (23%) and a 
third of respondents (32%) said staff were unable to deal with their problem. A 
quarter said they were dissatisfied with the final outcome (24%) 

Tenant Participation Compacts 

 

• Half the respondents said they had heard of the Tenant Participation Compact 
(53%). 

• This is a significant increase since 2006 when just 23% of respondents had 
heard of the Compact. 

• Of those who have heard of the Compact, three quarters of respondents (75%) 
were satisfied with it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 21 

 
2.6 Resources  

 
The following figures show the overall budget figures for the Housing Service. 

 

        REVISED ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE 

        2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 

        

        £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

REVENUE             

              

Expenditure       24,289       25,108 
 

       25,175       26,601      27,805      28,874 

Income (23,652) (24,242) (25,090) (26,327) (27,395) (28,334) 

REVENUE SAVING NEEDED               0               0               0             0 (150) (540) 

(Surplus)/Deficit            637             866              85             274            260 0 

Balance Brought Forward @ 1st 
April                 (3,631) (2,994) (2,128) (2,043) (1,769) (1,509) 

Balance Carried Forward @ 31st 
March             (2,994) (2,128) (2,043) (1,769) (1,509) (1,509) 

              

CAPITAL             

              

Expenditure           9,387          8,175          6,220          6,220          6,220          6,220 

              

Funding             

Capital Receipts           6,206          4,468          3,000          3,000          3,000          3,000 

Major Repairs Allowance           3,178          3,287          3,200          3,200          3,200          3,200 

Revenue                  0            400     

Grants and Contributions                  3              20              20              20              20              20 

Total Funding           9,387          8,175          6,220         6,220         6,220         6,220 

 

 
2.7 Value for Money Overview 
 

In July 2008 Savills were commissioned to undertake an assessment of the efficiency 
and effectiveness of the housing service including the scope for value for money 
efficiencies. The report concluded that the service is not over staffed and is currently 
operating on a staffing base that is below that expected in such an organisation. 
 
The Savills report also advised that whilst overall costs are being kept low there may still 
be scope for some efficiency savings that could generate around £100,000 per year 
savings and extra income. These projects are included within the service improvement 
projects. 
 
It has also been identified that there is a need to undertake more extensive 
benchmarking of housing operations and to use this to develop a more sophisticated 

Page 59



 22 

value for money culture within housing. To this end the housing service has subscribed 
to Housemark. Housemark is a nationwide benchmarking facility run by the Chartered 
Institute of Housing and the National Housing Federation and recommend by the Audit 
Commission. The service enable detailed an accurate benchmarking of service costs to 
be undertaken as well as providing access to good practice and advice from the housing 
sector. 
 
The non-landlord services (Strategy, Enabling, Aid, Advice, Homelessness) have taken 
part in a county wide best value review completed in April 2008. This work has fed into 
the development of the new Homelessness Strategy adopted in 2008 
 
As a general principle all Housing Service contracts that are up for renewal have a target 
of at least 4% savings in order to drive towards the Gershon efficiency target. New long-
term partnering contracts are being implemented by property Services. The first one is 
the Decent Homes contract let in October 2007 on a 5 year ( plus 3 ) basis. As a result 
we now have more competitive prices for kitchen and bathroom refurbishments. In light 
of this other contracts are to follow all modelled on the Rand Foremaster contract that 
incorporates the National Housing Federation schedule of rates.  
 

 
2.8 Workforce Overview 

 
There are around 150 staff delivering the housing service. The roles are diverse and 
include sheltered housing officers and DLO operatives as well as office based staff and 
staff with technical roles. There are few problems with recruitment and retention although 
there can be difficulties in recruiting to specialist roles such as development officers. 
 
There is currently a corporate process underway to review the full staffing grading 
structure at South Cambridgeshire District Council. This is due to report back during 
2009. 
 
The appraisal process is the primary mechanism through which to identify training and 
support needs. However a more systematic assessment of training and skills gaps is 
required to plan a more targeted strategy for staff development.   Investors in People 
accreditation is being pursued in line with the Council’s policy during 2009. 
 
 

2.9 Equalities Overview 
 
The workforce is diverse and contains people across a wide range of ages, people with 
different disabilities, people with family commitments and an overall balance of male and 
female staff. There are however few staff from BME backgrounds. 
 
Whilst there is a corporate commitment to equality there is currently a paucity of data 
with regard to the residents and more work is required to provide a more detailed and 
sophisticated understanding upon which to base service changes. The one exception is 
Gypsies and Travellers who make up the largest minority community in the area where a 
recent comprehensive needs assessment on a sub regional basis was carried out. 
 
In research carried out by the County (November 2007) the housing issue which most 
concerns local BME households is the shortage of affordable homes. Their priorities for 

Page 60



 23 

improving services do not include any direct housing services. In addition, respondents 
were concerned not to be singled out for separate services and not to be seen as a 
“separate “ group. 
 
The Council is participating in the development of both an older person strategy and a 
disability strategy that is being led by the County Council. There is also annual 
monitoring of BME housing issues that are reported to the Portfolio Holder. 
 
The Housing Service is committed to making a contribution to the consultation and 
scrutiny required for the development of the Comprehensive Equalities Policy. The 
Housing Service is also committed to implementing equality impact and needs 
assessments for each service area. This has already been done for example for Choice 
Based Lettings. The Service Plan contains a specific action to address this issue. 
 
Housing Advice and Gypsy and Travellers have been selected for the next round of 
Equality Impact Assessments in 2009. 

Page 61



 24 

2.10 Risk Overview 
 
The major risks associated with the Housing Service are noted in the table below. A 
fuller explanation of these risks is included in Appendix A. All risks are cross-referenced 
to that part of the Improvement Plan or Operational Plan, which seeks to mitigate that 
risk. 

 

 
Affordable Homes 
Risk Matrix 
August 2008 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

1     

 
 
 
 
 

2  HS4, HS11   

 
 
 
 
 

3  HS1,  HS2, HS8  

 
 
 
 
 

4  HS9, HS7   

 
 
 
 

Like- 

5  HS3   

li- 
hood 
 
 
 

6     

 
 

  
D 

 
C 

 
B 

 
A 

 
 
 

  
Impact 

    

Page 62



 25 

Likelihood 1 Almost certain 
2 Likely 
3 Possible 
4 Unlikely 
5 Seldom 
6 Rare 

Impact A Extreme 
B High 
C Medium 
D Low  
 

 
Note: The dotted line shows the Council’s risk tolerance line.  
 
Risk Matrix Summary  
 

Number Risk Impact 
/Likelihood 

HS2 Housing Futures 
 

B3 

HS4 Supported Housing: Reduction in Supporting People 
Funding 
 

C2 

HS8 DLO Viability 
 

B3 

HS11 Increase in numbers in temporary accommodation 
 

C2 

HS1 Redevelopment of Windmill Estate Fulbourn 
 

C3 

HS3 Voids – time to relet 
 

C5 

HS7 Tenant Participation 
  

C4 

 
Those risks that come ‘above the line’ are shown in bold and require specific attention 
within the service plan. 

 
 

3. Service Improvement Plan summary 
 

The Service Improvement Plan is intended to capture the major issues to be addressed 
by the service in preparation for the future and identifies those projects that are required 
to address specific areas of poor performance or to respond to specific challenges such 
as changes in legislation.  
 
The headline projects included within this Service Plan this year are divided into two sub 
sections. Section A identifies those developments that are needed to develop the service 
regardless of whether or not there is a transfer of Council homes to a housing 
association including development in those areas that will be retained by the Council in 
the event of transfer. Section B Includes projects that will need to be undertaken to detail 
the service cuts that will be needed if tenants vote to retain council ownership of their 
homes. In the event of a tenants vote in favour of transfer Section B will be dropped and 
replaced by a series of post ballot activities that will be required to establish South 
Cambridgeshire Village Homes. 
 
 

Page 63



 26 

 
 
 
Section A projects 

 

• Improving the reporting of repairs (developing from NI14 pilot reducing 
avoidable contact) 

• Recording and utilising complaints 

• Procurement strategy 

• Monitoring tenant satisfaction with service delivery & customer feedback 
projects 

• Capital project controls 

• Income maximisation 

• Embedding VFM using Housemark and ADAPT 

• Back office phone set ups  

• Work with corporate developments to implement a new diversity and 
equalities strategy 

• Review of homelessness procedures 

• Develop new domestic violence procedures 

• Investigate supported accommodation for young people 

• Improved working practices with partner agencies (homelessness) 

• Undertake review of IT infrastructure 

• PI development project 

• Data quality project 
 

Section B Projects 
 

• Re tender responsive repairs contract 

• Review responsive repairs work e.g. actively reduce work which is the 
responsibility of tenants 

• Review grounds maintenance 

• Review staffing structures 

• Review management structures 

• Review resident involvement work 
 
Full details of these projects are to be found in Appendix B 
 

 

5. Operational Plans summary 
 

The Operational Plan identifies the core day to day work of the service particularly those 
activities needed to address specific PIs as measured by the corporate performance 
management tool CORVU. The list of 58 key actions does not reflect all of the day-to-
day work of Housing but captures the key activities that will be undertaken over the next 
three years. The details for these activities can be found in Appendix C. 

Page 64



 27 

6. Proposals for new expenditure  
 
As part of the Service Planning process a number of projects suitable for new funding 
were identified by the Housing Service.  
 

Funding of new service activities 

Project Title Approximate 
cost over three 

years 

Source of 
Funding 

Agreed Y/N 

Accountancy Assistant 
(leaseholders) 
 

£60,000 HRA Y 

Supported Lodging Officer (shared 
post) 
 

£30,500 GF N 

CBL Administrative Assistant 
(shared post) 
 

£10,900 GF N 

Housing Enabling & Development 
Manager (salary cost top up) 
 

£57,000 GF N 

Commuted sums professional fees 
set aside 
 

£15,000 Commuted 
sums 

Y 

Housing Advice Officer 
 
 

£67,200 GF N 

 
 

Those projects for which funding was not secured will not go ahead unless an alternative 
funding source can be found. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



APPENDIX A 

 
Affordable Homes Risk Register 
February 2009 

 
 

No. Title Description 
(The risk event,  
leading to consequence for service/Aim/Approach/Action,  
resulting in possible outcome(s).) 

Impact/ 
Likelihood 

 

Direction 
of Travel 

Council Aims,  
Approaches,  
Actions 

Owner Timeline 
for 

Progress  

HS2  Housing Futures 
 
Failure to get yes vote leading to significant financial 
shortfall from 2009/10. Around £5 million cuts required 
each year leading to a an overall deterioration in the 
quality of housing services 

B3 � Aims 1,2,3,4 Stephen Hills March 
2009 P

a
g
e
 6

6



 29 

No. Title Description 
(The risk event,  
leading to consequence for service/Aim/Approach/Action,  
resulting in possible outcome(s).) 

Impact/ 
Likelihood 

 

Direction 
of Travel 

Council Aims,  
Approaches,  
Actions 

Owner Timeline 
for 

Progress  

HS4 Supported Housing 
 
Reduction in Supporting People Funding as a result of: 
 
a) Reduction in the numbers of sheltered housing units 
that can be funded through SP in accordance with targets 
set out for the district in the future. 
 
b) Further savings required as part of the County –wide 
Sheltered Housing Green Paper. 
 
c) Loss of control over SP budget when ring finance 
removed within LAA 
 
Reduction in the support available for vulnerable people, 
including older people residing in sheltered housing in the 
South Cambridgeshire. 

C2 � Aims 1,2,3 Tracey Cassidy February 
2009 

HS1  Redevelopment of Windmill Estate Fulbourn. 
 
All tenants on board with phase 1 of the project. 

• Phase 2 currently under consideration and 
detailed planning permission to be applied for 
later this year (2008).  At present there are 2 
owner occupiers that are presenting us with 
concern which may affect the aspirational mix. 

C3 � Aims 1,2,3 Schuyler 
Newstead 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

7



 30 

No. Title Description 
(The risk event,  
leading to consequence for service/Aim/Approach/Action,  
resulting in possible outcome(s).) 

Impact/ 
Likelihood 

 

Direction 
of Travel 

Council Aims,  
Approaches,  
Actions 

Owner Timeline 
for 

Progress  

HS11  Increase in numbers in temporary 
accommodation. 
 
Potntial impacts form current economic downturn and 
instability in the housing market. 
 
Not enough temporary accommodation available, leading 
to an increase in B&B use. / 
 
Applicants not moved onto permanent accommodation 
quickly enough. / 
 
Unable to access the private rented sector. 
 
Travellers approaching as homeless. 
 
Large-scale emergency leading to duties to provide 
accommodation for those who are homeless in the event 
of such an emergency. 
 
Limited homelessness prevention. 
 

• High expenditure 

• Lack of additional resources to continue with 
preventative measures. 

• Increase of homeless applications 

• Government targets not met. 

• Use of unsuitable accommodation 

C3 � 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aims 1,2,3 Sue Carter/ 
Heather Wood 

 

P
a

g
e
 6

8



 31 

No. Title Description 
(The risk event,  
leading to consequence for service/Aim/Approach/Action,  
resulting in possible outcome(s).) 

Impact/ 
Likelihood 

 

Direction 
of Travel 

Council Aims,  
Approaches,  
Actions 

Owner Timeline 
for 

Progress  

HS8  DLO trading position 
 
Making a financial loss 
 

• Drain on Council resources, adverse publicity, low 
staff morale. 

C3 � Aims 1,2,3 Sid Webb  

HS9  Delivery of DHS programme 
 
Works not completed on time - slippage of programme 
 

• Properties not modernised, higher responsive repair 
cost, fail to meet potential future decent homes 
targets. 

C4 � Aims 1,2,3 Brent O’Halloran  

HS3  Voids – time to relet. 
 
High volume of council vacancies. 
 
High volume to nomination requests from RSL’s leading 
to added staffing pressures. 
 
Out of date/ inaccurate information held about applicants. 
 

• Delays in allocations of council properties and 
subsequent rental loss. 

• Misaligned with CBL 

• Poor public image (seeing empty properties). 

• Not addressing the housing needs in the district. 

• Loss of income 

C5 � (C4) Aims 1,2,3 Brent O’Halloran  

P
a
g
e
 6

9



 32 

No. Title Description 
(The risk event,  
leading to consequence for service/Aim/Approach/Action,  
resulting in possible outcome(s).) 

Impact/ 
Likelihood 

 

Direction 
of Travel 

Council Aims,  
Approaches,  
Actions 

Owner Timeline 
for 

Progress  

HS7  Tenant Participation: 
 
Failure to establish the mechanisms for involvement 
contained in the Tenant Participation Agreement in 
increasing the level of tenant involvement in decision 
making. 
 
Lack of commitment on the part of tenants to engage in 
the new arrangements. 
 

• The level of tenant involvement in decision-
making will not be increased 

• SCDC would be unable to demonstrate an 
improvement in this area, which would attract 
negative comment in the event of 
assessment/inspection 

C4 � 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Aims 1,2,3 Stephen Hills  

 
Impact Likelihood Direction of Travel 
A  Extreme 
B  High 
C  Medium 
D  Low 

1  Almost certain 
2  Likely 
3  Possible 
4  Unlikely 
5  Seldom 
6  Rare 

� 
� 
� 

Priority reduced from last review (bracket indicates previous priority) 
Priority equal to last review 
Priority increased from last review (bracket indicates previous priority)  

 
Notes: 1. The dotted line shows the Council’s risk tolerance line. 

2. The Council is due to adopt new Aims, Approaches and Actions for 2009/10 onwards; please cross reference each risk to the 
relevant Aim(s), Approach(es) and/or Action(s), as appropriate (e.g. A. v., or E. ii. 2.). 

 

P
a

g
e
 7

0



 33 

Appendix B 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Relevant Council Aim/s: we are committed to being a listening Council providing first class services accessible to all 
 

Relevant Council Approach/es: None  
i. Listening to and engaging with our local community 
ii. Working with voluntary organisations, Parish Councils and Cambridgeshire County Council to improve services through partnership 
iii. Making South Cambridgeshire more open and accessible 
iv. Achieving improved customer satisfaction with our services 

Ensuring that the Council demonstrates value for money in the way it works 
 

Service Objective: To provide access to decent affordable housing 
 
 

Improvement or 
Change Objective 

Actions Supporting Information 
Completion 
by Month  

Responsible 
Officer 

Improving the 
reporting of repairs 

Review outcomes of NI14 pilot – 
reducing avoidable contact in the 
repairs service 
 
Review recommendations of Savills 
report 
 
Undertake business process analysis 
of repairs reporting 
 
Review good practice 
 
 
 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: Improved customer service  
Outcomes reduced operating costs 
Risks: Less resources leading to reduce tenant 
satisfaction 
Other services affected: Contact Centre 
 

November 
2009 

Brent O 
Halloran 

P
a
g
e
 7

1



 34 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Recording and utilising 
complaints 

Undertake business process analysis 
of current complaint reporting  
 
Interviews with staff and customers to 
ascertain extent of  
Informal complaints 
 
Review good practice 
 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved customer service 
Outcomes Improved learning from feedback 
Risks:  
Other services affected: Linked to Corporate Service-
First project 
 
 

Jan 2010 
Graham 
Middleton 

Procurement Strategy 

Implement a Property Services’ 
Procurement Strategy to complement 
the Corporate Procurement Strategy 
and form part of Property Services’ 
Asset Management Strategy 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: More structure procurement practice 
Outcomes Reduced tender prices 
Risks:  
Other services affected: Corporate procurement  
 

October 2009 
Brent 
O’Halloran 

Monitoring tenant 
satisfaction with 
service delivery 

 Ensure all new tenants receive a 
customer satisfaction survey and 
outcomes auctioned to improve where 
practicable to do sp 

Additional Resources Required    None 
Outputs: Greater focus on customer care 
Outcomes ;Increased customer satisfaction 
Risks:  
Other services affected:  
 

September 
2009 

Anita 
Goddard 

Capital project controls 
Develop the project and budget 
monitoring regime on capital 
improvement projects 

Additional Resources Required    None 
Outputs: Budget outturns closer to set budgets 
Outcomes Minimal under or overspends 
Risks: Less resources leading to reduce tenant 
satisfaction 
 
Other services affected: Accountancy Service 

June 2009 
Steve 
Annetts 

P
a

g
e
 7

2



 35 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Income maximisation 
To develop an income maximisation 
strategy  

Additional Resources Required    None 
Outputs: greater efficiency 
Outcomes; Income maximised and revenue loss 
minimised 
Risks:  
Other services affected: Revenues and Property 
Services 

February 
2010 

Anita 
Goddard 

Embedding VFM using 
Housemark and 
ADAPT 

Develop benchmarking activity to 
monitor costs and expenditure, and 
improve services 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: More effective and efficient service 
Outcomes Greater value for money achieved 
Risks:  
Other services affected: Possibly Revenues 

November 
2009 

Colin Gipp 

Back office phone set 
ups 

Review back office phone set ups, 
hunt groups, and answer phone 
facilities. 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: Less waiting and lost calls 
Outcomes More effective service 
Risks:  
Other services affected: The Contact centre 
 

August 2009 
Graham 
Middleton 

P
a
g
e
 7

3



 36 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Customer feedback 

Monitor satisfaction responses to 
surveys for housing advice and 
homelessness. 
 
Investigate the possibility of 
including a mechanism for 
flagging up informal complaints on 
the Locata system for 
homelessness. 
 
Staff guidance for dealing with 
difficult applicants and complaints. 
 
Monitor new lettings survey and 
introduce satisfaction survey for all 
cancelled home-link applications. 
 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved customer awareness 
Outcomes Improved services for customers.  Better 
support for staff in dealing with difficult situations 
Risks: 
Other services affected: Possibly Contact Centre 
 

04/09 
10/09 
04/10 
 
 
 
 
04/10 
 
 
 
 
05/09 
 
 
04/09 
10/09 
04/10 

Marje Veale 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sue Carter/ 
Heather 
Wood 
 
 
 
 
SUE 
CARTER/ 
HEATHER 
WOOD Sue 
Carter/Heathe
r Wood 
 

P
a

g
e
 7

4



 37 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Review of  
homelessness 
systems/ processes 

Produce overall homeless 
prevention procedures. 
Include procedure for HOA to 
recognise risk of homelessness 
amongst new housing register 
applicants. 
 
Periodic checks on standard 
letters by team leaders. 
 
Review temporary 
accommodation paperwork. 
 
Pilot increased home visiting 
activity to prevent homelessness. 
 
Introduce Locata homeless and 
housing advice module 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved systems and procedures 
Outcomes More efficient service 
Risks: 
Other services affected:  
 
 

06/09 
 
 
 
 
 
04/09 
 
04/09 
10/09 
04/10 
 
06/09 
 
 
 
10/09 
 
 
 
06/09 
 

MARJE 
VEALE 
 
 
 
 
 
CHARLES 
CLAY 
 
 
MARJE 
VEALE & 
CHARLES 
CLAY 
 
MARJE 
VEALE 
 
 
 
MARJE 
VEALE 

Domestic violence 
procedures 

Housing Advice & Options to 
develop in conjunction with 
housing services. 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: A clear procedure for housing advice and 
housing management which is consistent with the 
county wide strategy 
Outcomes improved consistency of advice for DV 
victims 
Risks: 

10/09 

SUE 
CARTER/ 
HEATHER 
WOOD 

P
a
g
e
 7

5



 38 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Investigate supported 
accommodation 
options for young 
people 

Participate in County discussions 
on supported lodging scheme 

Additional Resources Required None initially put 
longer term a possible contribution requested from 
sub regional partners to joint fund a supported 
lodgings officer. Outputs: Possible increase in 
provision of supported accommodation for young 
people  
Outcomes Improved understanding for the demand for 

02/10 

SUE 
CARTER/ 
HEATHER 
WOOD 

Improved working 
practices with partner 
agencies 

Promote homeless prevention and 
early intervention with key 
agencies. 
 
Develop a homeless strategy with 
Housing Associations 
 
Work with the Disability Housing 
Strategic Network to support a 
county wide strategy and 
implement arising actions from the 
action plan 
 

Sub regional homeless strategy 
action plan, including potential 
development of enhanced housing 
options. 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved procedures and practices 
Outcomes Better working relationships with partner 
agencies 
Risks: 
Other services affected: 
 

11/09 

SUE 
CARTER/ 
HEATHER 
WOOD 

P
a

g
e
 7

6



 39 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Work with corporate 
partners to review the 
effectiveness of the IT 
infrastructure  

Review key issues identified by 
both the Sovereign Housing 
Database report (November 2008) 
and the internal IT review (Dec 
2008) 
 
Identify resource implications  
 
Produce action plan 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved It infrastructure 
Outcomes: improved efficiency in service delivery and 
potential operational cost savings 
Risks:  Disruption to service delivery, resources to 
carry out action plan may not be available 
Other services affected: Implications for corporate 
systems particularly in Finance 
 

09/09 Stephen Hills 

P
a
g
e
 7

7



 40 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Work with corporate 
developments to 
implement a new 
diversity and equalities 
strategy 

Improve ethnic monitoring on 
housing advice enquiries. 
 
Monitor enquiries/ approaches/ 
applications from migrant workers 
 
Ensure leaflets are made available 
in different formats and investigate 
value of tailor made leaflets. 
 
Work with key agencies to 
address specific needs. 
 
Improve monitoring on all 
elements of equality and diversity 
 
Complete EIA’s for key areas. 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved data sets on diversity matters 
Outcomes Ability to adjust service delivery to meet 
diverse needs 
Risks: Non completion could impact on service 
delivery and achievement of corporate goals 
Other services affected: Equality & Diversity Officer 
 

02/10 Sue Carter 

P
a

g
e
 7

8



 41 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section A 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

PI Review 

Work with staff to determine what 
PIs are needed to capture key 
work for them 
 
Work with tenants to establish 
which are the key PIs for them 
 
Review existing PI framework in 
light of staff and tenant input 
 
Agree a new set of housing PIs for 
agreement with PFH 
 
 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved PI suite 
Outcomes Better targeted serves designed to meet 
tenant needs and increase service efficiency 
Risks: Moving away from well established BVI 
framework 
Other services affected: IT & Corporate performance 
management 

February 
2010 

Stephen Hills 

Data Quality  

Review outputs from 2008/09 data 
survey 
 
Consider implications of 
Sovereign database review 
 
Provide staff training on FOI and 
data protection issues 

Additional Resources Required None 
Outputs: Improved data sets  
Outcomes Improved efficiency of delivery 
Risks: Non completion could leave service vulnerable 
to legal challenge  
Other services affected: IT & Corporate performance 
management 

February 
2010 

Stephen Hills 

 
 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 7

9



 42 

Appendix C 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section B 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Relevant Council Aim/s: we are committed to being a listening Council providing first class services accessible to all 
 

Relevant Council Approach/es:  
i. Listening to and engaging with our local community 
ii. Working with voluntary organisations, Parish Councils and Cambridgeshire County Council to improve services through partnership 
iii. Making South Cambridgeshire more open and accessible 
iv. Achieving improved customer satisfaction with our services 

Ensuring that the Council demonstrates value for money in the way it works 
 

Service Objective: To provide access to decent affordable housing 
 
 

Improvement or Change 
Objective 

Actions Supporting Information 
Completion 
by Month  

Responsi
ble 

Officer 

Re tender responsive repairs 
contract 

Draft, procure, tender and 
award new Responsive Repairs 
contract 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: New contractual and service arrangement 
Outcomes A reduced but more value for money orientated 
service for tenants 
Risks: DLO may lose contract and be TUPE’d from Council  
Other services affected: Environmental Services at 
Waterbeach depot 

Oct 2009 
Brent O 
Halloran 

P
a

g
e
 8

0



 43 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section B 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Review responsive repairs 
work 

This will form part of the 
procurement process for the 
Responsive Repairs contract 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: Rationalised service delivery 
Outcomes A reduced but more value for money orientated 
service for tenants 
Risks: Less resources leading to reduce tenant satisfaction 
Other services affected: Environmental Services at 
Waterbeach depot 
 

Oct 2009 
Brent O 
Halloran 

Review grounds 
maintenance 

To review with a view to 
ensuring that the budget in 
constrained to address only 
those within the contract and 
health and safety requirements 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: service delivery within budget 
Outcomes ; reduced operational costs 
Risks: reduced customer satisfaction and low staff morale 
Other services affected: None 
 

02/10 
Anita 
Goddard 

Review staffing structures 

To identify how service can 
best be reconfigured to take 
account of the need for revenue 
cuts. 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: New sustainable structure within HRA 
Outcomes  Reduced operational costs 
Risks:  drop in quality of service delivery, low staff morale 
Other services affected: HR 
 

July 2009 
Stephen 
Hills 

Review management 
structures 

To run in parallel with the 
review of staffing structures to 
identify how the service can 
best be reconfigured to deliver 
the optimum service whilst 
implanting revenue cuts. 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: New sustainable structure within HRA 
Outcomes  Reduced operational costs 
Risks:  drop in quality of service delivery, low staff morale 
Other services affected: HR 
 

July 2009 
Stephen 
Hills 

P
a
g
e
 8

1



 44 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN: Housing Service Section B 
(To be used to set out plans of the service to address inescapable requirements and service developments or improvements) 

Review resident involvement 
Identify how resident 
involvement can be continued 
at a reduced level 

Additional Resources Required   None 
Outputs: new sustainable structure within the HRA 
Outcomes  less opportunities to participate 
Risks: Lower tenants satisfaction 
Other services affected: Property Services, leaseholders 
and sheltered housing 
 

September 
2009 

Anita 
Goddard 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
a

g
e
 8

2



 45 

APPENDIX C Operational Plans 
 

 
OPERATIONAL PLAN: Housing Service 
 

Relevant Council Aim/s: we are committed to being a listening Council providing first class services accessible to all 
 
 

Relevant Council Approach/es:  
v. Listening to and engaging with our local community 
vi. Working with voluntary organisations, Parish Councils and Cambridgeshire County Council to improve services through 

partnership 
vii. Making South Cambridgeshire more open and accessible 
viii. Achieving improved customer satisfaction with our services 

Ensuring that the Council demonstrates value for money in the way it works 
 

Service Objective: To provide access to decent affordable housing 
 

PI target or deadline (month) for action Supporting Objective 
 

Performance Indicator or SMART 
Milestone 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 

Lead 
Officer 

Monthly – to help maximise rental 
income 

BV212 – Average relet time 14 days 14 days 14 days Colin Gipp 

Quarterly – to ensure a valued repairs 
service is provided 

SH302 – Tenant satisfaction with 
responsive repairs 

> 95% > 95% > 95% Sid Webb 
 

Monthly – to  minimise inconvenience 
to tenants 

SH327 –Responsive repairs by 
appointment 

> 95% > 95% > 95% Sid Webb 
 

Quarterly – to ensure a valued 
planned maintenance service is 
provided 

SH328 – Tenants satisfaction – refurb 
work 

> 95% > 95% > 95% Steve 
Annetts 

Monthly- to provide a reasonably 
quick routine repairs service 

SH330 - % routine repairs in 23 days 92% 92% 92% Sid Webb 
 

Monthly- to provide a responsive 
urgent repairs service 

SH331 - % urgent repairs in 5 days 95% 95% 95% Sid Webb 
 

P
a
g
e
 8

3



 46 

Monthly- to provide an effective 
emergency repairs service 

SH332 – % of emergency repairs 
attended in 24 hours 

100% 100% 100% Sid Webb 
 

Monthly – to provide a efficient and 
effective repairs service overall 

SH333 – Average time to complete 
response repair 

14 days 14 days 14 days Sid Webb 
 

Monthly to provide a valued repairs 
service overall 

SH334 – Housing repairs performance 
rating 

9 9 9 Sid Webb 
 

Yearly – to ensure our properties are 
energy efficient 

BV063 – Average SAP rating 65 65 65 Steve 
Annetts 
 

Quarterly – to ensure our properties 
are in a decent condition 

BV184a – Non decent homes 6% (see NI158 
below) 

6% (see NI158 
below) 

6% (see NI158 
below) 

Steve 
Annetts 
 

Monthly – to ensure our gas 
appliances are in safe working order 

SH336 – Gas installations compliance 99% 99% 99% Steve 
Annetts 
 

Quarterly – to ensure our properties 
are in a decent condition 

NI158 - % decent Council homes 94% (check) 94% (check) 94% (check) Steve 
Annetts 
 

Monthly- to maximise income Total HRA Collectable 98.5% 98.5% 98.5% Anita 
Goddard 
 

Quarterly – to ensure all preventative 
work has been done and paper work 
correctly completed 

HSM (& RM) to sign off preparation and 
pre-court visit 

100% 100% 100% Anita 
Goddard 
 

Monthly – to identify health and safety 
risks on estates and take steps to 
minimise 

H&S maintenance checks `To be 
developed 

`To be developed `To be 
developed 

Anita 
Goddard 
 

Yearly – monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve service 
delivery 

NI160 – Tenants’ satisfaction with 
landlord services 

80% 80% 80% Anita 
Goddard 
 

Yearly – monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve service 
delivery 

BV074a – Tenant satisfaction Status survey Status survey Status survey Geoff Clark 
 

P
a

g
e
 8

4



 47 

Yearly- monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve service 
delivery for BME tenants and 
residents 

BV074b – Tenant satisfaction ethnic 
minorities 

Status survey Status survey Status survey Geoff Clark 
 

Yearly- monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve service 
delivery for non-ethnic tenants and 
residents 

BV074c – Tenant satisfaction non-
ethnic minorities 

Status survey Status survey Status survey Geoff Clark 
 

Yearly- monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve 
opportunities to participate 

BV075a – Tenant satisfaction with 
participation 

Carry out 
satisfaction 
survey 

Carry out 
satisfaction survey 

Carry out 
satisfaction 
survey 

Geoff Clark 
 

Yearly- monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve 
opportunities for ethnic minorities to 
participate 

BV075b – Satisfaction with participation 
ethnic minorities 

Carry out 
satisfaction 
survey 

Carry out 
satisfaction survey 

Carry out 
satisfaction 
survey 

Geoff Clark 
 

Yearly- monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve 
opportunities to participate 

BV075c – Satisfaction with participation 
non ethnic minority 

Carry out 
satisfaction 
survey 

Carry out 
satisfaction survey 

Carry out 
satisfaction 
survey 

Geoff Clark 
 

Monthly – to ensure timely and 
effective action is taken to resolve 
cases 

Actions to tackle ASB Visit 
complainant 
Write to alleged 
perpetrator 
Visit 
perpetrator 
Refer to 
mediation 

Visit complainant 
Write to alleged 
perpetrator 
Visit perpetrator 
Refer to mediation 

Visit 
complainant 
Write to alleged 
perpetrator 
Visit 
perpetrator 
Refer to 
mediation 

Geoff Clark 
 

To establish links with SC CDRP and 
Community Safety ASB Officer 

Meetings with the ASB officer Attendance on 
ASB task group 
– CDRP 
100% 

Attendance on ASB 
task group – CDRP 
100% 

Attendance on 
ASB task group 
– CDRP 
100% 

Geoff Clark 
 

Quarterly – to ensure action is taken 
within specified timescales 

Set and monitor incident response 
times 

Being 
Developed 

Being Developed Being 
Developed 

Geoff Clark 
 

P
a
g
e
 8

5



 48 

Quarterly – to ensure complaints are 
promptly addressed and quality of 
service delivery monitored 

Complaints about grounds maintenance Monthly 
monitoring 
meeting. 
Raised at TPG 
Goes back to 
feedback 
mechanism in 
service plan 

Monthly monitoring 
meeting. Raised at 
TPG Goes back to 
feedback 
mechanism in 
service plan 

Monthly 
monitoring 
meeting. 
Raised at TPG 
Goes back to 
feedback 
mechanism in 
service plan 

Geoff Clark 
 

Yearly- monitor satisfaction and 
identify actions to improve service 
delivery 

SH305 and BH 306 
Right to buy and equity share applicants 
satisfaction 

Satisfaction 
survey required 

Satisfaction survey 
required 

Satisfaction 
survey required 

Jennifer 
Clark 
 

Monthly – to ensure notices are 
issued within timescale 

SH319 – Right to buy offer notices 

100% 100% 100% 
Jennifer 
Clark 
 

Quarterly – to ensure completion 
within timescale 

SH323 – Right to buy completions 100% 100% 100% Jennifer 
Clark 
 

Adapt to the new Homes and 
Communities Agency bidding 
processes 
 
 

SH311a –affordable housing completed 
without funding from the Housing 
Corporation 
 
SH311b – affordable housing 
completed with funding from the 
Housing Corporation 

85 
 
 
 
313 

89 
 
 
 
354 

125 
 
 
 
500 

Schuyler 
Newstead 

Continue to enable and promote new 
projects to populate the future 
development pipeline 
 
 
 

NI155 New affordable homes 398 443 625 Schuyler 
Newstead 

Monitor effectiveness of Home-Link  Average lettings time 
 
Action taken to address non-bidding in 
band A 
 
% of homeless applicants in Band A 
bidding 

 
 
100% 
 
 
90% 

 
 
100% 
 
 
90% 

 
 
100% 
 
 
90% 

Charles Clay 
 
Charles Clay 
 
 
 
Marje Veale 

P
a

g
e
 8

6



 49 

 
Accuracy of home-link application 
assessments 

 
 
95% 

 
 
97% 

 
 
99% 

 
 
 Charles Clay 

Reduce the use of temporary 
accommodation 

Minimise the length of stay for 
homeless households in temporary 
accommodation: 
 
B&B < 2 weeks 
Hostel <16 weeks (BVPI 183b) 
By 2010 
 
Reduce the numbers in temporary 
accommodation (SH329) 

 
 
 
 
 
18 

 
 
 
 
 
16 

 
 
 
 
 
14 

 
Marje Veale 
 
 
Marje Veale 

Increase homelessness prevention Monitor number of cases where 
homelessness is actively prevented (in 
line with previous BV 213 definition). 
 
As above – specifically for young 
people (SH335) 
 
Monitor activities that help to prevent 
homelessness – monitoring to be in 
place 
 
Monitor causes of housing need from 
those seeking housing advice– 
monitoring to be in place. 
 
Case file audits 
 
Mystery shopping exercise 

04/09 
 
 
 
04/09 
 
 
 
Monthly 

  Marje Veale 
 
 
 
Marje Veale 
 
 
 
Marje Veale 
 
 
Marje Veale 
 
 
Sue 
Carter/Heath
er Wood 
 
Sue 
Carter/Heath
er Wood 

 

P
a
g
e
 8

7



Page 88

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Housing Portfolio Holder March 2009 

AUTHOR/S: Corporate Manager Affordable Homes 
 

 
AFFORDABLE HOMES PI REPORT 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To provide an updated on key PI performance for 2008/09 
 

This is a not a key decision.  
 

Background 
 

2. A key set of PIs are monitored by the Housing Services Management Team and 
reported quarterly to the Portfolio Holder for Housing. 

 
3. The most recent data is that up to 31/12/08 

 
Considerations 
 

4. The standard format table has been attached to this report and overall shows strong 
performance across all of the PIs. 

 
5. An additional table format has also been attached. This format displays the 

information in a new way and has been developed using best practice and in 
conjunction with the TPG.  

 
6. It is suggested that the new style format and headings be adopted for use from April 

2009. 
 

Legal None 

Staffing None 

Risk Management The review of key PIs forms part of the risk management 
process in housing.  

7.  

Equal Opportunities None 

 
Consultations 

 
8. The TPG have been consulted on the format and content of the proposed new PI 

table. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6Page 89



Effect on Service Priorities and Corporate Objectives for 2008/09 
 

Work in partnership to manage growth to benefit everyone in South 
Cambridgeshire now and in the future 

Partnership working is central to housing work.  
 

Deliver high quality services that represent best value and are accessible to all 
our community 

A high level of service has been delivered to date and the Housing Service will strive to 
achieve the best outcomes it can for tenants within the resources available.  
 

Enhance quality of life and build a sustainable South Cambridgeshire where 
everyone is proud to live and work 

9.  

The quality of SCDC homes and the services offered by Housing play a role in the 
quality of life for all residents in the South Cambridgeshire villages. 

 
Recommendations 
 
That the Housing Portfolio Holder approves the adoption of the new format for the PI table for 
2009/10 

 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  
 
None 
 

 
Contact Officer:  Stephen Hills – Corporate Manager Affordable Homes  

Telephone: (01954) 713412 

Page 90



T
a
rg

e
t

M
a
rc

h
 0

8
A

p
ri

l
M

a
y

J
u

n
e

J
u

ly
A

u
g

u
s
t

S
e
p

te
m

b
e
r

O
c
to

b
e
r

N
o

v
e
m

b
e
r

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r

J
a
n

u
a
ry

F
e
b

ru
a
ry

M
a
rc

h

R
e
n

t
C

u
rr

e
n

t
£
3
3
5
,9

5
1

£
3
4
5
,3

6
8

£
3
4
4
,4

1
2

£
3
4
8
,4

9
2

£
3
4
0
,5

5
5

£
3
3
7
,8

5
5

£
3
2
4
,6

7
7

£
3
5
7
,7

0
6

£
3
3
8
,2

3
2

£
3
7
8
,6

4
8

F
o

rm
e
r

£
7
3
,3

8
5

£
7
9
,3

3
4

£
7
9
,7

8
5

£
8
4
,2

4
5

£
7
9
,1

4
5

£
8
2
,4

2
3

£
8
8
,6

2
2

£
9
1
,4

1
8

£
8
1
,9

0
8

£
8
6
,3

7
4

T
o

ta
l

£
4
0
9
,3

3
6

£
4
2
4
,7

0
2

£
4
2
4
,1

9
7

£
4
3
2
,7

3
7

£
4
1
9
,7

0
0

£
4
2
0
,2

7
8

£
4
1
3
,2

9
9

£
4
4
9
,1

2
4

£
4
2
0
,1

4
0

£
4
6
5
,0

2
2

R
e
p

a
ir

s
E

a
s
t

9
8
%

9
5
%

9
8
%

9
7
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

9
8
%

S
a
ti

s
fa

c
ti

o
n

W
e
s
t

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

S
o

u
th

9
9
%

1
0
0
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
8
%

A
v
e
ra

g
e

9
9
%

9
8
%

9
9
%

9
8
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

9
9
%

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
iv

e
1
0
0
%

E
m

e
rg

e
n

c
y

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

1
0
0
%

R
e
p

a
ir

s
9
5
%

U
rg

e
n

t
9
6
%

9
1
%

9
2
%

9
2
%

9
3
%

9
3
%

9
3
%

9
2
%

9
1
%

9
1
%

9
2
%

R
o

u
ti

n
e

9
1
%

8
8
%

8
9
%

8
9
%

8
9
%

8
8
%

8
7
%

8
7
%

8
8
%

8
8
%

A
v
e
ra

g
e

9
6
%

9
3
%

9
4
%

9
4
%

9
4
%

9
4
%

9
3
%

9
3
%

9
3
%

9
3
%

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
iv

e
2
0
%

E
m

e
rg

e
n

c
y

1
9
%

3
3
%

2
2
%

2
3
%

2
2
%

2
2
%

2
2
%

2
2
%

2
1
%

2
2
%

R
e
p

a
ir

s
U

rg
e
n

t
2
3
%

2
6
%

2
3
%

2
0
%

2
0
%

2
0
%

2
2
%

2
2
%

2
3
%

2
3
%

%
 S

p
li
t

R
o

u
ti

n
e

5
8
%

4
1
%

5
5
%

5
7
%

5
9
%

5
8
%

5
7
%

5
6
%

5
6
%

5
5
%

G
A

S
H

ig
h

e
s
t 

N
o

 i
n

 M
o

n
th

4
4

6
4

6
8

7
9

1
3
1

1
2
7

1
2
9

1
0
4

8
9

6
4

N
o

n
-c

o
m

p
li
a
n

t 
L

o
w

e
s
t 

N
o

 i
n

 M
o

n
th

3
7

3
7

4
4

6
5

6
5

1
1
1

8
9

8
9

6
2

4
4

2
0

N
o

 o
n

 1
s
t 

o
f 

M
o

n
th

2
6

3
7

5
5

6
5

6
5

1
2
3

1
1
1

8
9

6
2

4
4

B
o

il
e
rs

J
o

b
s
 i
n

 T
im

e

H
o

u
s
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
T

e
a
m

 P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 T

re
e

3
1
 D

e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

P
a
g
e
 1

K
B

 1
4
/0

1
/2

0
0
9

Page 91



Page 92

This page is left blank intentionally.



 

Affordable Homes’ Health Check 

Performance at a Glance – Tenants’ Top 10 
 

on target near target  below target 
 

No. Performance 
Indicator 

Target 
2008/9 

Current 
performance 
for year  

Performance 
Trend 

Current 
performance 
data 

As at 31 December 2008 

1 Emergency 
repairs 
attended to 
within 24 
hours 

100% 100% 
 

1919 jobs 

2 Urgent repairs 
completed 
within 5 days 

95% or 
above 

91% 
 

1835 in 
190 out  

3 Routine 
repairs 
completed 
within 23 days 

92% or 
above 

88% 
 

3973 in  
549 out 

4 Average time 
to complete a 
repair 

14 days 
or less 

16 days 
 

End to end 
time 

5 Satisfaction 
with repair 
contractors 

98% or 
above 

99% 
 

1694 yes 
23 no 

6 Satisfaction 
with housing 
repairs service  

8 or 
above 

9 out of 10 
 

1726 

7 Average time 
to relet a 
property 

15 days 
or less 

12.35 days 
 

134 relet 

8 Number of 
overdue gas 
services 

20 or 
less 

44 
 

For  
December 08 

9 Level of 
current rent 
arrears 

1.4% or 
less 

2.2% 
 

As at week 40 

10 Rent loss 
through empty 
properties 

4% or 
less 

3.5% 
 

As at week 40 

Page 93



Page 94

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Housing Portfolio Holder 5th March 2009 

AUTHOR/S: Corporate Manager – Affordable Homes / Housing Development 
and Enabling Manger 

 

 
ACCESS OVER LAND IN THE OWNERSHIP OF SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT 

COUNCIL AT ORCHARD CLOSE, COTTENHAM  
 

Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Housing Portfolio Holders consent to grant 

Hundred Houses a “right of access” over a strip of land that is currently in the 
ownership of South Cambridgeshire District Council.  The access will facilitate a 
development on an exceptions site of 11 affordable homes for local people in 
Cottenham. 
 

2. This is not a key decision because the value of the access strip does not exceed 
£120,000. 

 
 
Background 

 
3. This site is at the rear of houses in Orchard Close, Cottenham and can only be 

accessed through the car parking area and access strip currently in the ownership of 
South Cambridgeshire District Council.   

 
4. The site was granted full planning permission for 11 affordable homes for people with 

a local connection to Cottenham in December 2008.  A plan, highlighting the access 
strip is attached to this report. 

 
Considerations 

 
5. The site now has full planning permission, and Hundred Houses will shortly be 

making an application for grant funding to the Homes and Communities Agency 
through the Continous Market Engagement Process. This application will be 
supported by the Housing Strategy and Development Team. 

   
6. The original proposal for the site was for a mix of shared ownership and rented units.  

However, current market conditions are making it almost impossible for applicants 
registered with Key Homes East (our HomeBuy Agent) to secure a mortgage.  
Therefore smaller scale development such as this, will only be successful in the 
current climate if we are able to offer it all as rented.  Hundred Houses have 
confirmed that would be willing to provide all the units on a rented basis. 

 
7. The Housing Portfolio Holder will be aware that our largest demand for social housing 

is for rented accommodation.  It is prudent that we are able to fill properties with 
families in housing need, rather than let the homes sit empty, which is likely to be the 
case should shared ownership be insisted upon for this site. 

 
8. This is an exceptions site, it will therefore be allocated to households with a local 

connection to Cottenham.  

Agenda Item 7Page 95



 
Options 

 
9. The only option to allow this scheme for 11 affordable homes to proceed is for the 

Housing Portfolio Holder to grant access over land currently in the ownership of 
South Cambridgeshire District Council. 

 
Implications 

 

Financial The value of the access to the site is £44,000 as confirmed by 
our valuers Pocock and Shaw 

Legal None 

Staffing None 

Risk Management None 

10.  

Equal Opportunities None 

 
Consultations 

 
11. Consultations were not necessary for the purpose of this report 
 

Effect on Corporate Objectives and Service Priorities 
 

Work in partnership to manage growth to benefit everyone in South Cambridgeshire now and in 
the future 

This project brings together the work of the District Council, Hundred Houses 
Housing Association, Cottenham Parish Council and the Homes and Communities 
Agency.  This site will deliver 11 affordable homes 
 
 

Deliver high quality services that represent best value and are accessible to all our community 

Hundred Houses will be able to provide a good quality and local housing 
management service which benefits the local community in Cottenham 
 

Enhance quality of life and build a sustainable South Cambridgeshire where everyone is proud 
to live and work 

12. 

Good quality, sustainable and affordable housing will be developed on this site 
 
 

 
Recommendations 

 
13. The Housing Portfolio Holder is asked to recommend that Hundred Houses is granted 

rights of access over the access strip at Orchard Close, Cottenham at nil value. 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this 
report:  

Plan of Orchard Close, Cottenham 
 
Contact Officer:  Schuyler Newstead – Housing Development and Enabling Manager 

Telephone: (01954) 713332 

Page 96



 

Page 97



Page 98

This page is left blank intentionally.



 
SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

  
REPORT TO: Housing Portfolio Holder 3rd March 2009 

AUTHOR/S: Executive Director 
 

 
LAND OFF CRANES LANE, KINGSTON 

 
Purpose 

 
1. To seek a decision by the Housing Portfolio Holder on the transfer of land rear 

of 7 – 10 Cranes Lane, Kingston to Kingston Parish Council. See plan for 
extent of land area. 

 
Background 

 

2. The land in question has been used as allotment land since the 1960s, with 
pedestrian access from Cranes Lane. It is divided into 4 plots. Total annual 
rental income to the Council is currently £60. 

 
3. Although all plots are currently rented, it has sometimes been difficult to find 

tenants, the land has not always been fully cultivated and has frequently 
become overgrown. The growth and spread of ragwort has been a common 
annual problem, resulting in concerns from adjacent landowners who graze 
horses and a cost to the Council of clearance.  

 
4. The area was considered as part of the Lands Appraisal but deemed 

unsuitable for development due to inadequate access and impact that 
development would have on the surrounding area.  

 
5. Some consideration has been made in previous years about other options for 

the site such as a managed public green ‘open space’ for the village but the 
general preference by village residents and the Parish Council was for it to 
remain as allotments. 

 
6. Kingston Parish Council have requested that the land be transferred to them, 

to be retained for allotment or public amenity use.  
 

Considerations 
 

7. Similar areas of Council-owned land have been transferred to Parish Councils 
at nominal cost, for public amenity use only, such as the land at Fardells Lane, 
Elsworth and land rear of High Street, Barton. 

 
8. The land offers no potential for the development of affordable housing and is 

an ongoing liability to the Council in terms of maintenance.  
 

Agenda Item 8Page 99



9. The Parish Council consider that by transferring the land to them to be kept as  
a village facility it will be easier for them to manage and ensure that it is kept 
free of harmful weeds. 

 
Options 

 
10. Retain land in SCDC ownership and continue to manage as allotments. 

 
11. Transfer the freehold of the land to the Parish Council at the nominal price of 

£1, subject to the following conditions: 
 

i) Payment of the Council’s legal costs;  
ii) That the land shall not be used for any other purpose other 

than for allotment or public amenity use;  
iii) That no disposal of the land will be made by the purchasers or their 

successors in Title without the consent of the Council, consent not 
to be unreasonably upheld; 

iv) That the Council will receive any uplift in the value of the land upon 
disposal by the purchasers or their successors in Title. 

 
12. Retain land in SCDC ownership but grant licence to Parish Council to manage 

land as allotments. 
 

Implications 
 

Financial No capital receipt will accrue to the Council with Option 2, 
but by transferring the land the Council will be relieved of 
the costs of future maintenance and the restrictive 
covenant will protect the Council’s future interests 

Legal None 

Staffing None 

Risk Management None 

13.  

Equal 
Opportunities 

None 

 
 

Consultations 
 

14. Councillor Martlew was consulted and supports the transfer of the land to the 
Parish Council at nominal cost. 

 
15. The Housing Services Manager is in support of the transfer of land to the 
Parish Council. 

 
Effect on Corporate Objectives and Service Priorities 
 

Work in partnership to manage growth to benefit everyone in South 
Cambridgeshire now and in the future 

16. 

 
 

Page 100



Deliver high quality services that represent best value and are 
accessible to all our community 

 
 

Enhance quality of life and build a sustainable South Cambridgeshire 
where everyone is proud to live and work 

The land to be transferred to the Parish Council serves as a valuable village 
facility. The land does not offer potential for development. 
 

 
 

Conclusions/Summary 
 

17. The land has been in allotment use for a long time but in recent years has 
either been difficult to rent or not fully cultivated by tenants, resulting in 
necessary weed clearance by the Council. The Parish Council consider that 
by transferring the land to them to be kept as a village facility it will be easier 
for them to manage and ensure that it is kept free of harmful weeds. The 
Council would be relieved of maintenance costs and the restrictive covenant 
would protect the Council’s future interests. 

 
Recommendations 

 
18. Transfer the freehold of the land to the Parish Council at the nominal price of 

£1, subject to the following conditions: 
 

i) Payment of the Council’s legal costs;  
ii) That the land shall not be used for any other purpose other 

than for allotment or public amenity use;  
iii) That no disposal of the land will be made by the purchasers 

or their successors in Title without the consent of the 
Council, consent not to be unreasonably upheld; 

iv) That the Council will receive any uplift in the value of the 
land upon disposal by the purchasers or their successors in 
Title. 

 
 Background Papers: none 
    
 

Contact Officer:  Jenny Clark – Lands Officer.   
Telephone (01954) 713336 

 

Page 101



Page 102

This page is left blank intentionally.



Cottage

Orchard

3

2

Wainstones

Pincote

Wychwood

Throcken Holt

10
Gardens

Ainola

Dove Cottage

Allotment

Pond

Willow

Kroken

Birchwood

Cottage

Trollheim

C
RA
NE
S 
LA
N
E

     

BASED ON THE ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF HER

MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE       CROWN COPYRIGHT. UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES

CROWN COPYRIGHT AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS. 

∀

�c

ScaleSOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL LICENCE NO 100022500 2008

LAND OFF CRANES LANE, KINGSTON

1:1000

Page 103



Page 104

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Housing Portfolio Holder March 2009 

AUTHOR/S: Stephen Hills Corporate Manager Affordable Homes/Kate Swan – 
Property Sales Officer 

 

 
APPLICATION TO PURCHASE GARDEN LAND AT 2 WRIGHTS GROVE, FULBOURN 

CURRENTLY HELD UNDER LICENCE  
 

Purpose 
 

The proposal to sell garden land currently held on licence under the First Time Buyer 
scheme.  

 
Executive Summary 

 
1. The Lease of the Leasehold Equity Sharing Scheme for First Time Buyers carries a 

clause that states the Leaseholder cannot purchase the garden to their property.  It is 
held on licence and a fee of £25 per annum is charged.  A request has been received 
from a leaseholder to purchase their garden as well as the freehold of the property.   
 
Background 

 
2. The leaseholders acquired a 75% share of their property under the Council’s 

Leasehold Equity Sharing Scheme for First Time Buyers on 17th January 2000, with 
the garden held on licence to prevent Leaseholders from extending the property, thus 
keeping it affordable for First Time Buyers (FTB).  

 
Considerations 

 
§ The leaseholders have applied to purchase the remaining 25% share and the 

freehold of the property. 
§ Valuation report by Pocock and Shaw gave the full market value of the property, 

including garden and the Council reduced the price by 10% to reflect the garden 
being kept on licence. 

§ The leaseholders have written in to appeal the decision to keep the garden on licence 
stating they have owed and invested in the property for 8 years and wish to continue 
doing so. 

§ The leaseholders have accepted and agreed to pay the increased valuation to include 
the garden. 

§ The Council no longer offers the FTB Scheme and therefore we do not have anyone 
on a waiting list for first time buyer properties. 

§ Keyhomes East offer affordable shared ownership properties within the region for 
FTB. 

§ Selling the garden is outside the FTB scheme. 
§ Agreement has previously been given for garden land to be sold on a FTB property at 

11A Orchard Close, Cottenham.  This agreement was based on the fact that 
permission had been incorrectly given to the Leaseholder to allow them to erect a 
conservatory in the back garden. 

§ The Lease does not provide a clause stating that the property can only be sold to first 
time buyers, therefore keeping the garden on licence will not benefit this group in the 
future as it can be marketed to, and bought by, anyone.  

Agenda Item 9Page 105



 
Options 

3.  
(a) To keep the garden on licence and carry on charging the £25 per annum 

licence fee.  
(b) To sell the house and garden land to the leaseholders with no restrictions. 

 
Implications 

4.  
(a) The garden will remain on licence and we will continue with the administration 

of collecting the £25 fee from this Leaseholder and all future leaseholders.  
The Council will retain ownership of the garden.  The property will potentially 
be more affordable to future buyers. 

(b) The Council will relinquish ownership of the garden and will receive an extra 
£4,200 from the current Leaseholder for the garden.  The Council will no 
longer administer the licence fee.  The property will increase in value making it 
less affordable for future purchasers.  

 
 

Financial Increased income to the Council if the garden is sold.  Less 
administration as the licence fee account can be closed.  

Legal None 

Staffing Selling the garden will reduce the task of having to collect the 
fee.   

Risk Management None 

5.  

Equal Opportunities The FTB Scheme no longer operates so we would not be 
disadvantaging this group.   

 
Consultations 

6. Lands Officer:  As the FTB Scheme no longer operates there is no benefit to the 
Council to keep the land on Licence.  The Council would benefit from the extra 
income generated from the sale of the garden.   

 
Effect on Corporate Objectives and Service Priorities 

Work in partnership to manage growth to benefit everyone in South Cambridgeshire now and in 
the future 

N/A 
 

Deliver high quality services that represent best value and are accessible to all our community 

N/A 
 

Enhance quality of life and build a sustainable South Cambridgeshire where everyone is proud 
to live and work 

7. 

N/A 
 

 
Recommendations 

8. That the Council proceed with Option B. 
 
9. That other FTB also be allowed to purchase their gardens alongside the freehold 

when such cases arise in the future. 
 

Contact Officer:  Kate Swan – Property Sales Officer 
Telephone: (01954) 713334 

Page 106



 

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

  
REPORT TO: Housing Portfolio Holder  3 March 2009 

AUTHOR/S: Corporate Manager-Affordable Homes / Housing Strategy Manager 
 

 
CONSULTATION-CHANGES TO THE REVENUE AND CAPITAL RULES FOR NEW COUNCIL 

HOUSING-DRAFT RESPONSE 
 

Purpose 
 
1. To provide the Housing Portfolio Holder with a draft response to a government consultation 

document following the decision taken at the Housing Portfolio Holder meeting of 5 February 
2009. The draft is attached as an appendix to this report. 

 
2. This is not a Key Decision but has been presented to the Housing Portfolio Holder so that a 

formal response can be made to the issues in the consultation document. 
 

Executive Summary 
 

3. A report explaining the contents of the above named government consultation document was 
discussed at the Housing Portfolio Holder meeting of 5 February 2009. At that meeting the 
questions in the consultation proforma were discussed and the principles of a response were 
agreed. A draft response incorporating the points raised at that meeting has now been prepared 
and is attached. In line with that earlier decision the response promotes flexibility and local 
discretion within the limits imposed by the scope of the consultation. 
 
Background 

 
4. The issues which are the subject of the consultation paper were outlined in the earlier report and 

are not repeated here. The original government consultation is relatively short and can be 
accessed at the website listed at the end of this report. 
 
Considerations 

 
5.  The proposals do not seem to offer any practical advantages in relation to new build in South 

Cambridgeshire for reasons set out in the report of 5 February 2009.   Very briefly these are- 
 

a) Fundamentally, South Cambridgeshire does not have significant land holdings to support a 
new build programme 
b) Potentially adding a small number of properties to the Council’s stock does nothing to address 
the difficulties caused by inadequate resources for management and maintenance (the 
“Retention Scenario”) 
c) The proposals offer no advantages compared to the current position of partnerships with 
housing associations and will not increase supply locally. At a national level, the Government’s 
Impact Assessment  anticipates only that “several thousand “ more affordable properties will be 
built each year because of these changes. 
 d) The Homes and Communities Agency would be very unlikely to consider grant funding new 
building for an authority that faced problems maintaining its existing homes. 
 
They may provide an opportunity to exercise discretion in the treatment of equity share receipts 
which could be to this authorities advantage and the proposal should be supported for this 
reason. In the interests of promoting new build affordable housing in other locations wherever 
possible, officers believe this authority should respond supporting the proposals and advocating  
flexibility, efficiency and local discretion in the application of any amendments to existing financial 
regimes. 

 
 

Agenda Item 10Page 107



 

Options 
 
6. The draft reflects the discussion and decisions at the previous meeting, and addresses the issues 

which are open for consultation. It could be amended further if required. 
  
Implications 
 

Financial 

Legal 

Staffing 

Risk Management 

7. 

Equal Opportunities 

There are no implications in submitting views on this 
consultation document. If the Government does eventually 
amend the subsidy regime then the relevance to the Council 
can be reviewed in the light of the final detail, particularly in 
relation to equity share capital receipts. 

 
Consultations 

 
8. The publication is itself a consultation document which has been sent to range of statutory 

bodies, professional interests and tenants representatives, all of whom have the opportunity to 
comment.  

 
Effect on Corporate Objectives and Service Priorities 
 

Work in partnership to manage growth to benefit everyone in South Cambridgeshire now and in 
the future 

The proposals do not offer any improvement on the current partnership 
arrangements with housing associations which continue to deliver affordable homes. 

Deliver high quality services that represent best value and are accessible to all our community 

None specific to the consultation contents but the proposed mechanism may be a 
vehicle to enable the Government to remove the requirement to pool a proportion of 
equity share capital receipts. Any extra resources available through this route could 
help provide local services 

Enhance quality of life and build a sustainable South Cambridgeshire where everyone is proud 
to live and work 

9. 

None 
 

 
Conclusions/Summary 

 
10. The proposals do not seem to offer any practical advantages in relation to new build in South 

Cambridgeshire for reasons set out above.  They may provide an opportunity to exercise 
discretion in the treatment of equity share receipts which could be to this authorities advantage 
and the proposal should be supported for this reason. In the interests of promoting new build 
affordable housing wherever possible, officers believe this authority should respond supporting 
the proposals and advocating  flexibility, efficiency and local discretion in the application of any 
amendments to existing financial regimes. 

 
 Recommendations 
 
11. That the Housing Portfolio Holder endorses the draft response. 
 
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:  

Changes to the revenue and capital rules for new council housing-CLG-January 2009-available 
at http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/housing/capitalruleschanges 
Government Impact Assessment- available at -
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/housingregenactimpactassess 
 

Contact Officer:  Mike Knight – Housing Strategy Manager 
Telephone: (01954) 713377 
 

Appendix-Draft Response 

Page 108



 

APPENDIX ONE 
Draft Response 
Government consultation-“Changes to the Revenue and Capital Rules for New Council Housing” 
 
QUESTION 1: Given the objectives of the policy, what types of properties should qualify to be 
excluded from the HRA subsidy system and pooling requirements? 
ANSWER 1. In order to maximise supply-any newly acquired, built, converted or renovated derelict 
properties which are eligible to be included in the HRA should qualify for exclusion from the subsidy 
system and pooling requirements. This should include long leasehold properties. Where new building 
involves demolition and re-building, then all new properties should qualify-not just net additions to stock. 
 
QUESTION 2: In your view, what types of properties should not qualify to be held outside the 
HRA subsidy system and pooling requirements? 
ANSWER 2. We agree with your list of properties which should not qualify except that where properties 
are transferred from another landlord and then remodelled/renovated/converted or otherwise subject to 
significant capital investment, they should then become eligible. All properties transferred from 
government agencies or similar bodies (eg MoD) to social landlords should qualify. 
 
QUESTION 3: Do you think that that the proposed process for applying for a section 80B 
exclusion is the right one to adopt? If not, what would be a better alternative? 
ANSWER 3. We agree that the local offices of the HCA are the appropriate route for applications, 
providing that there are guarantees that they are adequately staffed to undertake this process quickly. To 
facilitate the process the HCA should issue a proforma detailing the information required and the 
standard of evidence/detail required under each heading. Smaller schemes should not require the same 
level of scrutiny as bigger schemes. The HCA should not try and “shoe-horn” local authorities into 
existing appraisal processes used for housing associations but should devise appropriate tests 
specifically for local authorities, whether or not social housing grant is involved. 
 
QUESTION 4: What factors should be taken into account by the Secretary  
of State in considering whether to enter into an agreement to exclude properties? 
ANSWER 4. We agree that the issues listed in the document are appropriate. However, since large 
schemes take considerable time and resources to prepare, it would be inappropriate to invite 
applications and subsequently reject such schemes on the basis of public expenditure control limits. We 
believe that a two stage process involving an outline submission leading to qualified approval subject to 
a further detailed submission should provide government with adequate controls on total expenditure 
and avoid abortive work. 
 
QUESTION 5: What terms and conditions do you think should be included in exclusion 
agreements? 
QUESTION 5.  The terms and conditions included in agreements should be kept to an absolute 
minimum necessary to ensure basic requirements for affordable housing are met, and must take account 
of any local factors rather than applying rigid national guidelines.  In addition, the framing of such terms 
must be sufficiently realistic and flexible to allow for the inevitable variations in design, numbers etc that 
always occur as schemes are developed through the planning and development processes. Rent and 
other terms should be expressed as principles rather than in strict quantitative terms which cannot 
always be predicted some time in advance. 
In general-principles are preferred to rigid quantification/specification. 
 
QUESTION 6: Do you agree that properties excluded from the HRA subsidy system under section 
80B should also be exempted from the requirements to pool capital receipts? 
ANSWER 6. Yes-agreed 
 
QUESTION 7: Do you agree with the proposed conditions attached to the exemption from 
pooling, which require receipts to be used for affordable housing and regeneration? 
ANSWER 7. No. The opportunity cost to the authority of undertaking expenditure in the first place 
extends to any other legitimate use of those resources. Logically therefore the authority should be able 
to use subsequent receipts for any activity towards which the original resource could have been directed, 
including debt redemption or adding to balances. This is particularly appropriate since there might well 
be many years between the expenditure and any likely receipt, and both priorities and available 
resources could change during that timescale. 

Page 109



 

 

Page 110



D
a
te
 o
f 
P
F
H
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 i
te
m
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 i
te
m
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

 
 

 
 

8
 J
u
ly
  

  

B
a
llo
t 
p
a
p
e
r 
w
o
rd
in
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
in
g
 c
o
n
fl
ic
ts
 o
f 

in
te
re
s
t 

N
L
S
P
: 
k
e
y
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
c
lu
s
io
n
s
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

re
p
o
rt
 

D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
 

D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
 

 D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
 

 D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
/S
a
v
ill
s
 

 

R
e
ta
in
e
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 
M
ik
e
 K
n
ig
h
t 

 

7
 A
u
g
u
s
t 

    

N
/A
 

 
L
a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

R
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

 

S
c
h
u
y
le
r 
N
e
w
s
te
a
d
 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

 

4
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

  

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

re
p
o
rt
 

E
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
to
c
o
l 

    

 
F
in
a
n
c
e
 u
p
d
a
te
 

P
I 
u
p
d
a
te
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 

B
M
E
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 

re
p
o
rt
 

 

G
w
y
n
n
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

 M
ik
e
 K
n
ig
h
t 

2
 O

c
to
b
e
r 

  

N
/A
 

     

 
 

   

6
 N

o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

  

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

re
p
o
rt
 

F
o
rm

a
l 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
(O

p
ti
o
n
 1
) 

 

D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
 

 D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
/S
te
p
h
e
n
 

H
ill
s
 

D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

A
ir
e
y
 P
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 

D
ra
ft
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
 

E
n
d
o
rs
in
g
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
 –
 

re
g
io
n
a
l 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
  

M
ik
e
 K
n
ig
h
t 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

M
ik
e
 K
n
ig
h
t 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

4
 D

e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

  

 N
/A
 

    

 
F
in
a
n
c
e
 u
p
d
a
te
 

P
I 
u
p
d
a
te
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 

G
w
y
n
n
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

Agenda Item 11Page 111



  

Page 112



D
a
te
 o
f 
P
F
O
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 F
u
tu
re
s
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 i
te
m
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

 
 

2
0
0
9
 

 
 

 
 

8
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
  

  

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

re
p
o
rt
 

F
o
rm

a
l 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
(O

p
ti
o
n
 2
) 

 
 

 

5
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

  

N
/A
 

    

 
A
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

B
re
n
t 
O
 H
a
llo
ra
n
 

5
 M

a
rc
h
 

  

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

re
p
o
rt
 

    

 
F
in
a
n
c
e
 u
p
d
a
te
 

P
I 
u
p
d
a
te
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
 o
v
e
r 
la
n
d
 i
n
 

o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
S
C
D
C
 a
t 

O
rc
h
a
rd
 C
lo
s
e
 

C
o
tt
e
n
h
a
m
 

S
ta
tu
s
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 

C
o
u
n
c
ils
 t
o
 b
u
ild
 n
e
w
 

h
o
m
e
s
. 

 

G
w
y
n
n
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

S
te
p
h
e
n
 H
ill
s
 

2
 A
p
ri
l 

  

R
is
k
 L
o
g
 

   

 
 

 

7
 M

a
y
 

  

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

re
p
o
rt
 o
r,
 

B
a
llo
t 
re
s
u
lt
 a
n
d
 n
e
x
t 

s
te
p
s
 (
O
p
ti
o
n
 1
) 

    

D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
 

 
 

J
u
n
e
 (
D
a
te
 T
B
A
) 

B
a
llo
t 
re
s
u
lt
 a
n
d
 n
e
x
t 

s
te
p
s
 (
O
p
ti
o
n
 2
) 

 

D
e
n
is
e
 L
e
w
is
 

 
 

Page 113



      

Page 114


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of previous meeting and matters arising
	3 Project Plan Update
	Housing Futures Phase 2 Risk Matrix v6
	Housing Futures Phase 2 Risk Log v7 February 2009
	Housing Futures Phase 2 budget 100309

	4 Finance Update
	Hsg Finance Update appx1
	Hsg Finance Update appxb
	Hsg Finance Update appxc

	5 Housing Service Plan update
	Housing service plan draft 4

	6 Affordable Homes PI Report
	HMT Summary Sheet (31-12-08)
	HSMT PIs

	7 Access over land in the ownership of South Cambridgeshire District Council at Orchard Close, COTTENHAM
	Orchard Close MAP

	8 Land off Cranes lane: KINGSTON
	MAP Land off Cranes Lane Kingston

	9 Application to purchase garden land at 2 Wrights Grove, FULBOURN
	10 Consultation - Changes to the Revenue and Capital Rules for New Council Housing - Draft Response
	11 Forward Plan

